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CNEROIiEE NATION 
COMPREFIENSIVE ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT 



. . Chad "Corntassel" Smith 

01rG. l  
CHEROKEE NATION Principal Chief 

P.O. Box 948 
Tahlequah, OK 74465-0948 Joe Grayson 

918-456-0671 1 .16.hfi, 
Deputy Principal Chief 

April 15,2005 

Principal Chief, Deputy Chief, Tribal Council, and Citizens of the Cherokee Nation: 

We are pleased to submit the Comprehensive Annual Financial Report of the Cherokee Nation (the 
"Nation" or "Tribe") for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2004. Accountability for both the 
accuracy of the data and the completeness and fairness of the presentation, including all disclosures, 
rests with the Nation. We believe the data presented is accurate in all material aspects, and fairly 
presents the financial position and results of operations for the year ended September 30,2004. 

A comprehensive analysis of the Nation's financial position and activities for the year are contained 
in this report. It has been prepared by the Nation's Financial Resources Group and conforms to the 
"pyramid" approach to governmental financial reporting as prescribed in National Council on 
Government Accounting ('WCGA") Statement 1, "Governmental Accounting and Financial 
Reporting Principles." The Comprehensive Annual Financial Report is organized into three distit~ct 
sections: 

1. Infroducforv Section-The introductory section includes this transmittal letter, a list of tribal 
officials and the Nation's organizational chart. 

2. Financial Section--This section includes the report of the Nation's independent auditors, 
Management's Discussion and Analysis, the basic financial statements, notes to the basic 
financial statements, combining and individual fund financial statements. and a schedule of 
budget to actual for the enterprise funds. 

3. Statistical Section--The statistical section presents selected financial, demographic, or 
geographical information, generally presented on a multi-year basis, and intended to enhance 
the reader's understanding of the Nation's financial activities. 

Organization of the Government 

The Nation is the federally recognized government of the Cherokee people and has sovereign status 
granted by treaty and law. The Nation is the second largest federally recognized tribe in the United 
States and is located within the 14-counties of northeastern Oklahoma. The boundary runs northerly 
and southeasterly from Tulsa, Oklahoma to the Kansas and Arkansas state borders. The Nation's 
jurisdictional area-which consists of 9,234 square milcs and includes all of nine counties and 
portions of five other counties-was established following the historical boundaries of the Cherokee 
Nation after the Treaty of 1866. 



The Cherokee Nation has a tripartite form of government designed after the original democratic form 
of govemment of the Iroquois that was adopted by the United States. The Cherokee Constitution was 
ratified by the majority of voting Cherokees and approved by the Commissioner of Indian Affairs on 
September 5, 1975. This Constitution defines the distribution and separation of powers among the 
three branches of government. The three branches and their respective powers include the: 

(I) Executive Branch --the executive power is vested in the Principal Chief, currently Chadwick 
"Corntassle" Smith. The Principal Chief is responsible for the execution of the laws of the 
Cherokee Nation, establishment of tribal policy and delegation of authority as is necessary 
for the administrative functions of the Cherokee Nation. The Principal Chief maintains an 
office at the W. W. Keeler Tribal Complex in Tahlequah (Cherokee County), Oklahoma. 
The Deputy Chief, currently Joe Grayson, Jr., is empowered to act as directed by the 
Principal Chief and also acts as President of the Tribal Council. 

(2) Leaislative Branch--the Legislature consists of fifteen (15) tribal council members, who are 
members of the Cherokee Nation. The Tribal Council is elected to four-year terms from the 
nine districts of the Cherokee Nation. The role of the Tribal Council is to adopt legislation 
and to conduct other business in the best interest of the Cherokee people. 

(3) Judicial Branch--the Judicial Branch consists of the Judicial Appeals Tribunal and the 
Cherokee Nation District Court. Tribunal members are appointed by the Principal Chief and 
confirmed by the Tribal Council. The primary responsibility of the Judicial Appeals 
Tribunal is to hear and resolve any disagreements arising under the provisions of the 
Constitution or any enactment of the Tribal Council. The District Court system hears all 
cases brought before it under jurisdiction of the Cherokee Nation Code Annotated, Title 20, 
Courts and Procedure. It is composed ofa  District and an Associate District Judge. 

Between 1907 and 1971, the President of the United States appointed the Principal Chief of the 
Cherokee Nation. Special Congressional legislation was enacted to restore elective rights to the 
Cherokee people and, in 1971; W. W. Keeler became the first elected Principal Chief of the 
Cherokee Nation. In 1975, Ross 0. Swimmer was elected to the ofice of the Principal Chief and 
was re-elected in 1979 and 1983. In December 1985, Ross 0. Swimmer resigned as Principal Chief 
of the Nation to become the Assistant Secretary of the Department of Interior for the Bureau of 
Indian Affairs. Wilma P. Mankiller, formerly Deputy Chief, was appointed Principal Chief and was 
elected to consecutive four-year terms in 1987 and 1991. Wilma Mankiller chose not to seek re- 
election in 1995. Joe Byrd was elected as Principal Chief in 1995. In 1999, Chad Smith was elected 
as Principal Chief. His stated goals are to improve services, increase cultural awareness and increase 
the resources for the betterment of the entire Cherokee Nation. In August 2003, he was reelected as 
Principal Chief. 

Government Services Provided 

The Executive Branch of the Nation is organized with the Principal Chief and the Deputy Principal 
Chief serving as the final authorities of the administrative operations of the Nation. There are two 
members currently appointed to the Principal Chiefs Cabinet, the Secretary-Treasurer and the 
General Counsel. The Secretary-Treasurer/Controller provides oversight and direction to the 
Financial Resources Group. The General Counsel represents the Cherokee Nation in all legal 



proceedings and submits written opinions on all questions affecting the public interests or when 
required by the Principal Chief. 

The staff of the Principal Chief includes the Group Leaders of the respective groups who provide 
oversight and general direction. The three major Teams are Direction, Service, and Resources. 

These Teams are comprised of the following: 
1. Direction Team 

a. Government Relations 
b. Strategy 
c. Solutions Development 
d. Communications 

2. Semice Team 
a. Education Services 
b. Health Services 
c. Community Services 
d. Commerce Services 
e. Human Services 
f. Career Services 

3. Resource Team 
a. Legal Resources 
b. Financial Resources 
c. Human Resources 
d. Tribal Resources 
e. Government Resources 
f. Information Systems 

Reporting Entity 

The Nation determines its financial reporting entity in accordance with Governmental Accounting 
Standards Board Statement No. 14, "The Financial Reporting Entity," and, based on that criterion, 
has included the following entities as component units within the Nation's basic financial statements. 

Housing Authority of the Cherokee Nation of Oklahoma (HACN) 
Cherokee Nation Enterprises, Inc. (CNE) 
Cherokee Nation Industries, Inc. (CNI) and related companies 
Cherokee Nation Businesses, Inc. (CNB) 
Cherokee Nation Home Health Services, Inc. (CNHHS) 
Cherokee Nation Economic Development Trust Authority (EDTA) 
Cherokee Nation Comprehensive Care Agency 

The nature of the activities of these organizations and the specific basis for inclusion as a component 
unit of the Nation are discussed in the notes to basic financial statements. 



Excluded Organizations 

The following organizations do not meet the criteria for inclusion in the reporting entity and 
accordingly their financial operations are excluded from this report. 

Cherokee Nation Education Foundation 
Cherokee National Historical Society 
Adair County Indian Credit Association 
Section 202 Housing Projects--except for Tsa-La-Gi Aparhnents (Enterprise Funds) 
Environmental Advisory Group 

Financial Information 

The management of the Nation is responsible for ensuring that adequate accounting data is compiled Pq 
I : 

to allow for the preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting i:: 

principles. Management of the Nation is also responsible for establishing and maintaining an 
internal control structure designed to ensure that the assets of the Nation are protected from loss, rn 
theft or misuse. The internal control structure is designed to provide reasonable, but not absolute, 
assurance that these objectives are met. The concept of reasonable assurance recognizes that: (1) the 
cost of a control should not exceed the benefits likely to be derived, and (2) the valuation of costs Y 

i ,: 
and benefits requires estimates and judgments by management. 

Single Audit - As a recipient of federal and state financial assistance, the Nation is responsible for 
ensuring that an adequate internal control structure is in place to ensure compliance with applicable 
laws and regulations related to those programs. This internal control structure is subject to periodic 
evaluation by management of the Nation. 

As a part of theNation's single audit, tests are made to determine the adequacy of the internal control 
structure, including that portion related to federal financial assistance program, as well as to 
determine that the Nation has complied with applicable laws and regulations. The results of the 
Nation's single audit for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2004, are included in a separately 
issued Single Audit Report. 1 i 

L I., 

Economic Outlook 

Since fiscal year 2002, the Cherokee Nation primary government has increased its total assets by 
approximately $1 15,000,000 or 85%. This growth is aligned with our vision for the Cherokee Nation 
as stated in the Declaration of Designed Purpose. This vision states, "The Cherokee Nation shall 
achieve and maintain an enriching cultural identity, economic self-reliance, and a strong 
government." Through expansion of its component units, the Nation is working to establish a self- 
reliant economy for the citizens of the Nation. 

In addition to the expansion of component units, the Nation has been successful in partnering with 
local governments to attract new industries and create jobs within the Nation's jurisdiction. 



Use of the Report 

This report will be submitted to the U.S. Department of Interior, Office of Inspector General, in 
compliance uith the requirements of the Office of Management and Budget (OMB) Circular A-133 
"Audits of States and Local Governments and Non-Profit Organizations." Copies of the reports ~ 1 1 1  
also be submitted to elected officials of the Nation and various other agencies which require copies 
consistent with the administration of funding provided to the Nation under grants and contracts. Use of 
this report by the departments of the Nation is encouraged. 

Readers of this report should refer to Management's Discussion and Analysis for better understanding 
of the financial activities of the Nation. The MD&A provides the reader with an easily readable 
discussion of the basic financial statements, significant differences, comparative analyses, fund 
financial analysis, significant budget variations, and facts, decisions or conditions u3lich are expected 
to have a significant effect on the Nation's financial position or results of operations. 

Certificate of Achievement 

Cherokee Nation was awarded the Government Finance Oficers Association (GFOA) of the United 
States and Canada, Certificate of Achievement for Excellence in Financial Reporting for its 
comprehensive annual financial report for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2003. This was the third 
consecutive year that the government has achieved this prestigious award. The GFOA awards this 
certification to govenunental entities which publish comprehensive annual financial reports in 
wmpliance with GAAP and legal requirements in an understandable and well-organized form. 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT 

To the Principal Chief and Tribal Council 
of the Cherokee Nation 

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-type 
activities, the aggregate discretely presented component units, each major fund, and the aggregate 
remaining fund information of the Cherokee Nation (the "Nation"), as of and for the year ended 
September 30,2004, which collectively comprise the Nation's basic financial statements as listed in the 
table of contents. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Nation's management. Our 
responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements based on our audit. We did not audit the 
financial statements of the Housing Authority of the Cherokee Nation of Oklahoma ("HACN), Cherokee 
Nation Enterprises, Inc. ("CNE"), Cherokee Nation Home Health Services, Inc. ("CNHHS") or Cherokee 
Nation Industries, Inc., CND, LLC, and Cherokee Medical Services, LLC (collectively "CNI"), which are 
all component units of the Nation. The financial statements for the HACN, CNE, CNHHS and CNI were 
audited by other auditors whose reports thereon have been furnished to us, and our opinions, insofar as 
they relate to the amounts included for the component units, are based on the reports of the other auditors. 

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America and standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued 
by the Comptroller General of the United States. Those standards require that we plan and perform the 
audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material 
misstatement. An audit includes examining. on a test basis. evidence suooorting the amounts and -. . . - 
disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used 
and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement 
preseitation. We believe that ou; audit a id  the reports of other auditors provide a reasonable basis for our 
opinions. 

In our opinion, based on our audit and the reports of other auditors, the financial statements referred to 
above present fairly, in all material respects, the respective financial position of the governmental 
activities, the business-type activities, the aggregate discretely presented component units, each major 
fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of the Nation as of September 30, 2004, and the 
respective changes in financial position and cash flows, where applicable, thereof and the respective 
budgetary comparison for the general fund for the year ended in conformity with accounting principles 
generally accepted in the United States of America. 

Management's Discussion and Analysis on pages 1 I througll 2 1 is not a required part of the basic 
financial statements but is supplementary information required by the Governmental Accounting 
Standards Board. We have applied certain limited procedures, which consisted principally of inquiries of 
management regarding the methods of measurement and presentation of the required supplementary 
infor~nation. However, we did not audit the infonnation and express no opinion on it. 



Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that collectively 
comprise the Nation's basic financial statements. The combining financial statements and schedule listed 
in the foregoing table of contents as other supplementary information are presented for purposes of 
additional analysis and are not a required part ofthe basic financial statements of the Nation. These 
combining financial statements and schedule are the responsibility of management of the Nation. Such 
additional information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in our audit of the basic 
financial statements and, in our opinion, is fairly stated in all material respects when considered in 
relation to the basic financial statements taken as a whole. 

The other information listed in the table of contents under Introductory Section and Statistical Section is 
presented for purposes of additional analvsis and is not a reauired Dart of the basic financial statements of . . 
the Nation. Such additional information has not been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the 
audit of the basic financial statements and accordingly we express no opinion on this other information. 

In accordance with Governn~enr Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated April 14,2005 
on our consideration of the Nation's internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of its 
compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and other 
matters. The purpose of that report is to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial 
reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the internal 
control over financial reporting or on compliance. That report is an integral part of an audit performed in 
accordance with Government Auditing Staiidards and should be considered in assessing the results of our 
audit. 

April 14,2005 



MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

The Nation's management provides Management's Discussion and Analysis of the 
Comprehensive Annual Financial Report ("CAFR") as a tool for readers of the Nation's financial 
statements for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2004. Readers of the Nation's financial 
statements are encouraged to utilize this information in conjunction with the information 
provided in the letter of transmittal, which precedes this section, and the accompanying basic 
financial statements and disclosures following this section. 

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS - PRIMARY GOVERNMENT 

The Nation's assets exceeded its liabilities at the end of fiscal year 2004 by $1 19 million 
(net assets). Of this total amount, $65 million are unrestricted net assets that may be used 
to meet the government's ongoing obligations. 

The Nation's overall liabilities increased by approximately $26 million to $131 million. 

The net assets increased by $15 million, which is largely attributable to the MS Indirect 
Cost Settlement, an increase in dividends from component units, and increases in 
revenues from motor vehicle taxes. 

OVERVIEW OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

This discussion and analysis senres as an introduction to the Nation's basic financial statements. 
The Nation's basic financial statements are comprised of government-wide financial statements, 
fund financial statements, and notes to the basic financial statements. The CAFR also contains 
other information to supplement the basic financial statements. A brief description of the basic 
financial statements follows: 

Basic Financial Statements 

The basic financial statements include two types of financial statements that present different 
views of the Nation, the Government-Wide Financial Statements and the Fund Financial 
Siatements. The basic financial statements also include Notes to the Basic Financial Statements. 
which explain and provide additional detail about some of the information contained in the 
statements. 

Government-Wide Financial Statements 

The Government-Wide Financial Statemer~ts provide a broad overview of the Nation's finances 
and operations in a manner similar to private-sector business. The statements provide 
information about the Nation's financial position on both a short-term and long-term basis. The 
statements are prepared using the accrual basis of accounting and an econon~ic resources 
management focus. The government-wide financial statements include the Statement of Net 
Assets and the Statement of Activities. 

The Stateme~lt of Net Assets presents the assets and liabilities for the entire Nation, with the 
difference reported as "net assets." Increases or decreases in net assets over time, can senre as an 
indicator of the improvement or decline in the Nation's financial position. 



The Statement of Activities presents information about how the Nation's net assets changed 
during the fiscal year. All changes in net assets are reported when the underlying event giving 
rise to the change occurs, regardless of when the related cash flows occur. Utilizing this method, 
revenues and expenses are reported when earned and incurred, rather than when cash is received 
or expended. 

The financial statements include separate sections for three different types of activities. The 
three types are as follows: 

Goverr~mental Activities - This section presents information about activities supported by 
taxes, intergovernmental revenues (state and federal grants), and private grants. The 
services provided by the Nation's government generally fall into this category, including 
mbal government, health services, education services, human services, community 
services, and other tribal services. 

Business-Type Activities - These types of activities are intended to recover all or a ! 
P 

substantial portion of their costs through user fees and charges to external users of the 
goods and services. The business type activities of the Nation include the Landfill Ir 
Operations, the Cherokee Trails Golf Club, Tsa-La-Gi Apartments, Ranch Operations, 
Childhood Development Centers, and Other Enterprise Activities. 

Discretely Presented Component Units - These are the operations for which the Nation '1 

has financial accountability, but have certain independent qualities, such as an 
independent Board of Directors. For the most part, these units operate similar to 
private-sector business. 

The Nation's discretely presented component units are: 

The Housing Authority of the Cherokee Nation ("HACN) 

Cherokee Nation Enterprises, Inc. ("CNE") 

Cherokee Nation Industries, Inc. ("CNI") and related companies I 

Cherokee Nation Businesses, Inc. ("CNB") 6 

Cherokee Nation Home Health Services, Inc. ("CNHHS") ! 

Complete financial statements for each of the component units can be obtained &om their 
respective administrative offices, or by contacting Cherokee Nation, Office of the Controller. 

The govemment-wide financial statements can be found immediately following this discussion 
and analysis. 

Fund Financial Statements 

A fund is a group of related accounts that is used to maintain control over resources that have 
been separated for specific activities or objectives. The Nation, like other state and local 
governments, uses find accounting to ensure and demonstrate compliance with finance-related 
legal requirements. 



The fund financial statements focus on individual activities of the Nation's government, 
providing more detail than the government-wide financial statements. The funds of the Nation 
are divided into three types, which use different accounting approaches and should be interpreted 
differently. The three types of funds are: 

Governmental Funds - Most of the services provided by the Nation are financed and reported 
through the governmental funds. Governmental funds are used to account for the same 
governmental functions as reported in the government-wide financial statements. However, 
unlike the government-wide financial statements, the governmental fund financial statements 
focus on the near-term inflows and outflows of expendable resources. These fund statements 
also focus on the balances of expendable resources available at the end of the fiscal year. This 
approach to financial reporting is known as using the flow of current financial resources and the 
modified accrual basis of accounting. This method may be useful in evaluating the 
government's near-term financing requirements. These statements provide a short-term view of 
the Nation's finances that assist in determining if there will be sufficient financial resources to 
meet the current needs of the Nation. 

Because the focus of the governmental funds is narrower than that of the government-wide 
financials statements, it is useful to compare the information presented for governmental funds 
with similar information presented for governmental activities in the government-wide financial 
statements. By doing so, the readers may better understand the long-term impact of the 
government's near-term financing decisions. The Governmental Fund Balance Sheet and the 
Governmental Fund Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances 
provide a reconciliation to facilitate this comparison between governmental funds and 
governmental activities. These reconciliations are presented on pages 24 and 26 of the financial 
statements. 

The Nation maintains four major governmental funds, each presented in a separate colu~nn in the 
Governmental Fund Balance Sheet and in the Governmental Fund Statement of Revenues, 
Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances. The Nation's four major governmental funds are 
the General Fund, Self Governance DO1 Roads, Self Governance DHHS, and Housing and 
Urban Development funds. In addition, the Nation maintains fourteen nonrnajor funds, including 
two permanent funds, Sequoyah Endowment and Gammon Educational Trust, and one blended 
component unit, Economic Development Trust Authority (EDTA), to account for other 
governmental activity. The governmental fund statements can be found on pages 24 and 25 of 
this report. 

Proprietary Funds - These funds are used to show activities which operate similar to 
private-sector enterprises. Because these funds charge fees for goods and services provided to 
outside customers, they are known as Proprietary Funds. Proprietary funds provide the same 
type of information as the business-type activities in the government-wide financial statements, 
except in more detail. Like the government-wide financial statements, proprietary fund financial 
statements use the accrual basis of accounting. There is no separate reconciliation needed 
between the proprietary fund financial statements and the government-wide financial statements 
for business-type activities. 



The proprietary funds financial statements can be found on pages 28 - 30 immediately following 
the governmental fund financial statements. The Nation's propriety funds include Enterprise and 
Internal Service Funds, which are described below. 

Enferprise Funds - The Nation has six nonmajor enterprise funds for presentation purposes. The 
funds are the Nation's Landfill Operations, Tsa-La-Gi Apartments, Cherokee Trails Golf Club, 
Ranch Operations, Child Development Centers, and Other Enterprises. During 2004, the Nation 
discontinued the ranch operations and transferred operations of the Cherokee Trails Golf Club to 
CNE. The nonmajor enterprise combining financial statements can be found on pages 70 - 72 of 
this report. 

Infernal Service Funds - The internal service funds are used to account for activities related to 
goods and services provided by one department to other departments of the Nation and to other 
governmental units, on a cost reimbursement basis. 

The internal service funds are: 

Internal Leases - used to account for the cost to maintain buildings for use by other funds 
of the Nation. 

Force Accounts - used to acquire and maintain equipment and supplies used by other 
finds of the Nation. 

Fringe Pool - used to account for the cost of fringe benefits, including the Nation's 
self-insured health care and worker's compensation benefits, used by other funds of the 
Nation. 

Indirect Cost Pool - used to account for the cost of providing certain services, such as 
accounting, human resources, and acquisition management, to other funds of the Nation. 

Construction Management - used to account for the cost to manage construction of 
buildings for use by other funds of the Nation. 

The internal service funds combining financial statements can be found on pages 73 - 75 of this 
report. 

Cherokee Nation Componenf Unit Financial Stafements - As previously mentioned above, the 
component units are operations over which the Nation has financial accountability, but they have 
independent qualities as well, similar to private-sector business. The government-wide financial 
statements present information for the component units in a single column. The Statement of 
Net Assets and the Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Fund Net Assets present 
detail for each of the five discretely presented component units. 

The financial statements for component units can be found on pages 31 and 32 of this report. 



Notes to the Basic Financial Statements 

The notes to the basic financial statements provide additional information that is essential for a 
full understanding of the data provided in the government-wide and the fund financial 
statements. The notes to the basic financial statements can be found on pages 33 - 67 of this 
report. 

Supplementary Information 

The basic financial statements are followed by a section of supplementary information. This 
section of the report includes combining schedules for nonmajor governmental and enterprise 
funds and internal service funds, and a budgetary comparison schedule for the Nation's 
enterprise funds. 

COMPARATIVE ANALYSIS FOR MAJOR FUNDS 

The following is a comparative analysis for the Nation's major funds (in thousands): 

Percentage 
Increase1 Increase1 

2004 2003 (Decrease) (Decrease) 
Major Fund 
General Fund 
Revenues and transfers in (1) $ 32,227 $ 26,091 $ 6,136 23.5 % 
Expenditures and transfers out (2) 23,387 18,200 5,187 28.5 % 

Self Govemance DO1 Roads 
Revenues and transfers in (3) 5,274 5,603 (329) (5.9)% 
Expenditures and transfers out (3) 5,398 5,510 (112) (2.0)uh 

Self Governance DHHS 
Revenues and transfers in (4) 58,112 55,542 2,570 4.6 % 
Expenditures and transfers out (4) 58,726 54,760 3,966 7.2 % 

Housing and Urban Development 
Revenues and transfers in (5) 27,705 43,372 (15,667) (36. I)% 
Expenditures and transfers out (5) 27,705 43,499 (15,794) (36.3)% 

(1) Revenue increases for General Fund are primarily the result of increased dividends 
fiom Cherokee Nation Enterprises and increases in tax and license revenues. 

(2) General Fund expenditures and transfers out were more than FY2003, primarily due to 
increases in salaries and fringe benefits, contract services, and general operating 
expenditures. The increase in contract services included expenditures for comn~unity 
work projects and an increased amount distributed from Motor Vehicle Tax to the 
schools and for highway construction. 

(3) Self Govemance DO1 Roads program reflects a decrease in revenue and expenditures, 
as a result of more miles of road being completed in FY2003. 



(4) Self Governance DHHS revenue was more in FY 2004 primarily due to a million 
dollar increase in programmatic revenues received and increased third party revenues. 
Expenditures were more due to increases in salaries and fringe benefits. 

(5) Housing and Urban Development revenue and expenditure were less than FY2003 as a 
result of decreased sub-grants to Housing Authority of the Cherokee Nation 
("HACN"). These sub-grants are used by HACN to provide affordable housing to 
citizens. 



GOVERNMENT-WIDE FINANCIAL ANALYSIS 

Net Assets 

As stated earlier, the government-wide financial statements are presented to give a broad 
overview of the govemment as a whole. Total assets of the Nation's primary govemment at 
fiscal year ending September 30, 2004 were $250 million. Of the $250 million, $40 million is 
related to investment in capital assets such as land, buildings, and equipment. Other assets, 
primarily cash, investments, and receivables, represent funds available to meet both current and 
future obligations of the Nation. 

Total liabilities of the Nation's primary government at fiscal year end were $131 million. Of this 
amount, approximately $25 million relates to long-term obligations primarily to finance capital 
asset acquisitions. Other liabilities represent accounts payable and deferred grant revenue and 
other obligations generally due within one year of the financial statement date. 

The assets of the Nation's primary government exceeded liabilities at fiscal year ended 
September 30, 2004 by $1 19 million, which is stated as net assets. The following table presents 
the Nation's net assets for the primary government (in thousands): 

Cherokee Nation's Net Asse ts  
Governmental Business-Type 

Activities Activities Total 
2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003 

Current and other assets $ 209,107 $ 170,101 $ 837 S 978 $ 209,944 S 171,079 
Capital assets 34.755 31,694 5,605 6,314 40,360 38,008 

Total assets 243,862 201,795 -- 6,442 7,292 250,304 209,087 

Long-term debt outstanding 25,854 16,284 1,217 1,475 27,071 17,759 
Other liabilities 102,348 85,991 1,522 1,350 103,870 ... 87.34 1 -- 

Total liabilities 128,202 102,275 - 2,739 2,825 130,941 105,100 

Net assets invested in capital 
assets, net ofrelated debt 29,403 25,655 4,388 4,839 33,791 30,494 

Restricted 20,691 20,421 20,691 20,411 
Unrestricted 65366 53,444 (685) (372) 64.88 1 53,002. 

Total net assets S 1 15,660 $ 99,520 (6 3,703 $ 4,467 $ 119,363 S 103.987 - - 
$34 million of the net assets balance represents investment in capital assets, net of related debt. 
Restricted net assets represent external restrictions placed upon assets of the Nation. The largest 
category of restricted net assets is related to net assets rcstricted for specific program purposes. 
Of the total net assets, $65 millior~ is reported as unrestricted net assets. The unrestricted net 
assets represent amounts available for future services for the Nation's citizens, obligations, and 
creditors. 

At September 30, 2004, the Nation reported positive net assets for the government as a \vhole, as 
well as for its separate governmental and business-type activities. 



Changes in Net Assets 

The Nation's net assets increased by $15 million or 15% during the course of the year. Total 
revenues for fiscal year ended September 30, 2004 were $212 million. Total expenses of the 
Nation were $197 million, which cover a variety of services. Approximately 38% of the total 
expenses were for health care for Tribal members. In total, governmental-type revenue exceeded 
expenses by $16 million resulting in an increase in net assets. Net revenues for business-type 
activities were exceeded by expenses in the amount of $614 thousand. The changes in net assets 
during 2004 are as follows (in thousands): 

Cherokee Nation's Changes in Net Assets 
ODwrnmemal Business-Type 

Activitks Activities Tnal 
2004 ZW3 2004 2003 2W4 2003 

Rwenua: 
Program revenue: 
Charges for savices 
opmting grsnts and 
conhibutions 

Genenl m e n u s :  
Motor fuel rax 
Motor vehicle lax 
Tobacco tax and fees 
Gaming tax and licawa 
Sales tax 
U d c t e d  investment earnings 
Indirect Cost Sdt lmmt 
Dividends from Component Units 
Arkansas Rivahybed Lands 

Satlement 
Grants and contniutions not 
restricted to specific pogram 

Miscellaneous 
GainiOms) on disposals 

Toral revenues 

Expenses: 
Tnbal govanmmt 
Health Sav ica  
Education Sav ica  
Human Savices 
Community Senics 
Otha liibal S a v i c s  
l n t m  on long-term debt 

TaSl govemmenral expense 

Tsa-LaGi Village Apamnents 
Chmkee Trails Golf Club 
Landfill Operations 
Ranch opaatiom 
Childhwd Dcveloprnmt Centas 
OUla Entapriser 

Total business-merpenses 

Increase in n a  ass- beforc bansfas 15,990 30.312 (614) 110 15,376 30,422 
Tramfas 150 (122) (150) 122 

Change in na assect 16,140 30,190 (764) 232 15,376 30,422 

Net asset-Beginning of year 99,520 - 69.330 4,467 - 4.235 103,987 73,565 
N a  assets-End of year $115,660 % 99.520 $ 3,703,467 - P 

$119,363 S103,9S7 



As indicated earlier in this report, the increase in net assets in 2004 is largely attributable to the 
IHS Indirect Cost Settlement, dividends from component units, and increases in motor vehicle 
taxes. 

CAPITAL ASSETS AND DEBT ADRlINISTRATlON 

The Nation's capital assets, net of depreciation, at the end of fiscal year 2004 were $40 million. 
The Nation has no public domain (infrastructure) fixed assets. The following table presents 
details of the Nation's capital assets, net of depreciation (in thousands): 

Cherokee Nation's Capital Assets 
(net of depreciation) 
September 30,2004 

Governmental Business-type 
Activities Activities Total 

Land $ 8,998 $ 105 $ 9,103 
Buildings and improvements 18,522 4,918 23,440 
Equipment 7,235 582 7,817 

Total capital assets 

Additional information on the Nation's capital assets can be found in Note 8 on pages 52 - 54 of 
this report. 

The Nation's long-term debt at the end of fiscal year 2004 was approximately $27 million, 
primarily related to investments in capital assets and Title VI loan proceeds. The following is a 
summary of long-term debt at September 30,2004 (in thousands): 

Governmental Business-type 
Activities Activities Total 

Notes payable $ 25,331 $ 1,217 $ 26,548 
Capital leases payable 523 0 523 

Total long-term debt $ 25,854 $ 1,217 $ 27,071 

The Nation, as a tribal government, has the ability to incur debt, similar to a state and local 
government. The Nation has entered into an agreement for $50 million with Bank One, 
guaranteed by the United States Department of Housing and Urban Development's Title VI 
program. The purpose of the credit facility is to loan money to the HACN who, in turn, will use 
the money in the building of affordable housing for Tribal members. As of September 30,2004, 
borrowings under this credit facility totaled approximately $19,078,000. 

Additional information on the Nation's long-term debt can he found in Note 9 on pages 55 - 59 
of this report. 



SIGNIFICANT BUDGET VARIATIONS 

The Nation's significant General Fund budget variations in 2004 were as follows (in thousands): 

Variance Percentage Variance Percentage 
Original Final Increase1 Increase1 Increase1 Increase1 
Budge1 Budget (Decrease) (Decrease) Actual (Decrease) (Decrease) 

Revenues: 
Dividends horn component units 7,500 10,250 2,750 (1) 37% 11,717 (2) 1,467 14 % 

Expenditures: 
Tribal Government 9.977 11,461 1,484 (3) 15 % 7,509 (4) (3,952) (34)% 
Member Senlces 16,129 21,437 5,308 (5) 33% 13,766 (6) (7,671) (36)% 

Otha sources/(usa): 
Transfen, net (6,516) (10,514) (3.998) (7) 61 % 655 (8) 11,169 (106)% 

(1) Increases in dividends from component units in the Final Budget are a result of increased 
profits at Cherokee Nation Enterprises (CNE). 

F 

(2) Actual dividends from component units were significantly higher than budget and the prior e 
year due to increased profits at CNE. 

(3) Increases in budgeted expenditures in the Final Budget are the result of increased revenue 
projections, primarily from increased dividends from component units and carryover from 
prior year. 

(4) Expenditures for Tribal Government were approximately $4 million less than budget, 
primarily due to decreases in contract services and operating expenditures. 

(5) Increases in budgeted expenditures in the Final Budget are the result of increased revenue 
projections, primarily from increased dividends from component units and carryover from 
prior year. ! 

(6) Expenditures for Member Services were less than budget, primarily related to decreases in 
capital expenditures and contract services. F: 

(7) Increases in budgeted transfers, net were the result of increased revenues available. 

(8) Net transfers were $1 1 million less than budget, primarily due to budgeted, but unspent, 
funds for Health Facilities and Sequoyah High School construction projects. 

ECONOMIC FACTORS AND NEXT YEAR'S BUDGET 

The Nation is currently in the process of several major projects, which will influence the future 
of the Nation. The Health Services facilities are still under construction in Nowata and 
Muskogee. The Nation will also begin a teleradiology program for the health clinics. The 
Education Services group will break ground on the Sequoyah High School Multi-purpose Center 
and a new Ballpark for its students and surrounding communities. Community Services will 



continue to provide affordable housing for Tribal members utilizing the HUD Title VI debt 
funding. 

Budgeted expenditures and transfers for the Nation's General Fund for fiscal year 2005 total $52 
million, a decrease of $10 million from the amounts budgeted for fiscal year 2004. 

Cherokee Nation Enterprises ("CNE) continues its expansion of its gaming facilities located in 
Catoosa, Oklahoma. With the passage of the State-Tribal Gaming Act in November 2004, CNE 
will be operating enhanced gaming activities in FY2005. 

CONTACTING THE NATION'S FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT 

This financial report is designed to provide a general overview of the Nation's finances to its 
citizens, customers, creditors, and other interested parties. Questions concerning any of the 
information contained in this report or requests for additional financial information should be 
directed to the Nation's Controller's Office, Post Office Box 809, Tahlequah, Oklahoma, 74465. 
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CHEROKEE NATION 

STATEMENT OF REVENLmS, EWENDIWRES AM) CHkYCES M FUND BALANCES - 
GOVERNMIMAL FUNDS 
FOR THE YEAR ESDED SEP'CEMBER 30,1004 
(Doll- lo Tbaurmds) 

Sell self Hourlmp & OtLu Toll1 
Govem.mrr Governance Urban CovmnuaNl GovanwnUI 

General W I  Rods  DHHS Devdopmtlll Fonds Fumds 

Revmucr: 
InagovnnmmDl 
Pmprry mmk 
Mom fuel lu m u a  
T u  and E m r c  mvmucr 
IntmSl 
T m l  fund i a m e  
I n d i t t  u n t  vttlmenl 
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OUcr 
Toul m-ucr 
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See noles lo  basic financial statements 



CHEROKEE NATION 

RECONCILIATION OF THE STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES 
AND CHANGES M IWND BALANCES OF GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS 
TO TAE STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30,2004 
(Dollars in Thousands) 

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of activities are diierent because: 

Net change in fund balances -total governmental b d s  $ 14,099 

Governmental funds report capital outlays as expendihlres. However, in the 
statement of activities the cost of those assets is allocated over their estimated 
use l l  lives and reported as depreciation expense. This is the amount by which 
capital outlays exceeded depreciation in the current period. 

II 
Revenues in the statement of activities that do not provide current financial resources 
are not reported as revenues in the funds. These revenues are presented in the fund 

1 statements as they become available. 

7 
The issuance of long-term debt provides current financial resources to 
governmental funds, while the repayment of the principal of long-term debt 
consumes the w e n t  financial resources of governmental funds. Neither 
transaction, however, has any effect on net assets. Also, governmental funds 
report the effect of issuance costs, premiums, discounts, and similar items when 
debt is f is t  issued, whereas these amounts are deferred and amortized in the 
Statement of Activities. This amount is the net effect of these differences in the 
treatment of long-term debt and related items. 

I 
Some expenses are reported in the Statement of Activities 
when incurred and presented in the governmental funds when paid. 

Investment in joint venture h-eated as expenditure in fund statements, capitalized 
in government-wide Statement of Net Assets 

The internal service funds are used to account for those activities which provide 
senices to other functions within the government. These costs are allocated to 
the governmental funds in the government- wide fmancial statements. This 
amount is the net effect of the allocations. 

Change in net assets of governmental activities 

See notes to basic financial statements 
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CHEROKEE NATION 

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE - 
BUDGET AND ACTUAL (GAAP BASIS) - GENERAL FUND 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED SEFTEMBER 30,2004 
(Dollars In Thousands) 

Budgeted Amounts Variance with 
F?naI Budget 

Rwcnues: 
Intngov~mmenld 

R o p e  
Motor fuel tax 
Taxes, licenses, and fees 
Interest 
T m t  fund income 
Indirect cost sctilemmt 
Dividends fmm component unib 
Other 

Told revenues 

Expenditures: 
Tribal gomnmmt 
Member services 
Capital outlay 
Debt senice 

Total expenditurer 

Excess (deficiency) of revmua over expenditures 

Other financing sources (uses): 
Transfm in 
Transfm out 

Total olher financing sources (ma) 

Excess (deficiency) of revenues and other financing muma 
over upendihlres 

Fund balance, October 1,2003 

Fund balance, Scpvmber 30,2M)4 



CHEROKEE NATION 
STATEMENT OF NET ASSETS - PROPRIETARY FUNDS 
SEPTEMBER 30,2004 
(Dollars in Thousands) 

Business-type Aaivities- 
Enterprise Funds Governwnhl 

NonmaJor Activities- 
Euterprtse Internal 

Fuods Totals Service Funds 

ASSETS 

Current assets: 
Cash and cash equivalents 
Inveshnents 
Accounts receivable, net 
Due born other funds 
Inventories 
Other current assets 

Total current assets 

Restricted cash and cash equivalents 
Capital assets, net 

Total assets 

LIABILITIES 

Current liabilities: 
Accounts payable and acrmed liabilities 
Current portion of long-term debt 
Current portion of capital leases 
Due to other funds 
Compensated absences 
Other current liabilities 

Total current liabilities 

Deferred revenue 
Long-term debt 
Capital leases payable 
Other liabilities 

Total liabilities 

NET ASSETS 
Invested in capital assets, net of related debt 
Restricted 
Unrestricted 

Total net assets 

Adjustment lo reflect the consolidation of Infernal Service Funds activities related to Enterprise Funds (3) 

Net assets of business-tpe activities $ 3,703 

See notes to basic financial statements 



CHEROKEE NATION 
STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES AND CHANGES IN FUND NET ASSETS - PROPRIETARY FUNDS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30,2004 
(Dollars In Thousands) 

Bustoas-type Activities- 
Enterprise Funds 

Nonrmjor 
E n t e r p r i ~  

Funds TOWS 

Operating revenues: 
Property rentals 
Charges for services and goods 
Other 

Total operating revenues 

Operating expmses: 
Cost of sales 
Salaries and wages 
Other mvices and charges 
Materials and supplies 
Depreciation and amortization 

Total o p t i n g  expenses 

Operating income (loss) 

Nonopenting revenues (expenses): 
Interest income 
Interest expmse 
Gain/(loss) on sale of fixed assets 

Net nonoperating revenues (expenses) 

Income (loss) before transfers 

Transfers in 
Transfers out 

Change in net assets 

Total net assets - beginning 

Total net assets - ending 

Adjustment to reflect the consolidation of Internal Service Funds activities related to Enterprise Funds (53) 

Change in net assets of business-type activities S (764) 

See notes to basic financial statements 

Governmental 
Actif it is  
Internal 

Scmce Funds 



CHEROKEE NATION 
STATEMENT OF CASH mows - PROPRIETARY FUNDS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30,2004 
(Dullars in Thousands) 

Business-type Activities- 

Cash flows from operating activities: 
Receipts from customers 
Payments to suppliers 
Payments to employees 
Internal activity,net -payments (to)/fiom other funds 
Other receipts 
Othm payments 

Net cash provided by operating activities 

I) Cash flows fiom noncapital financing activities 
Operating subsidies and transfers (to)/from other funds 

Cash flows fmm capital and related financing activities 
purchases of capital assets 
Proceeds capital debt 
Principal paid on capital debt 
Interest paid on capital debt 

Enterprise Funds 
Nonmajor 
Enterprlse 

Funds Total 

Pr& from sales of capital assets 
Net cash (used) by capital and related 

financing activities (564) (564) 

Cash flows from investing activities 
Interest and dividends 19 19 
Disposition of capital assets 42 42 

Net cash provided by investing activities 61 61 

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 315 315 

Cash and cash equivalents, October 1,2003 

Cash and cash equivalents, September 30,2004 

Reconciliation of operating income (loss) to net cash provided 
(used) by operating activities: 

Operating income (loss) 
Adjuments to reconcile operating income to net cash 
provided (used) by operating activities: 

Depreciation expense 
Change in assets and liabilities: 

Receivables, net 
Inventories 
Other current assets 
Accounts and other payables 

Net cash provided by (used for) operating activities 
See notes  to basic financial s ta tements  

Governmental 
Activities- 
Internal 

Service Funds 



CHSROKEE NATION 

STATEMENT O F  NET ASSETS -COMPONENT UNITS 
SEPTEMBER 30,1004 (&WE 30,2004 for CNI) 
KM1l.n I m  Tbon..dl) 

C M k  Cherokee C L a o k  C b m k  
NlUom NlUom Nu!-,. N.tlom 

Emtrrprira I.dmrIda B.rlm- HameHe.ltb 
Imc. I r  Im. SeulrrS 1.r. 

W E )  (CNI) (CNB) (CNHHS) 
ASSETS 

RcmbedinMrmnm 
Iwmmrlofbomcrforl.le 
Noer Eceimbk 
M0-w -*!+Tide n d 
OmnweD 
C m i d  asem, m 

TO* rUIO 

LIABILITIES 

Cmra lhbi l ik :  
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NET ASSETS 
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Raaiclld fa 

Debt ravia 
Pm- - 

uwaiNd 

See noks to basic financial statements 



CHEROKEE NATION 

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES AWD CHANGES IN FUND NET ASSETS (DEFICIT3 - 
COMPONENT UNITS 
FOR TEE YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30,2004 (52 we& ended June 30,2004 lor CNl) 
@ollmn i n  Thousands) 

Housing Cherokee Cherokee 
Authorily Nation Nation 

of the Cherokee Entrrprisa Industries 
Nation l a c  l o c  

( H A W  (CNE) (CNQ 
Opnating revenue: 

Charges for services and goods S 3,400 $ 174,561 84,789 
Other 888 470 

Total operating revenuer 4,288 175,031 84,789 

+sing rrpmsa: 
Cost of ssldoperations 7,932 58,577 54,315 
Salaries and wages 6,043 43,064 20,599 

i Housing assislance 4,972 
Other srvieer and chnges 947 21,323 6,455 
Lkpmiation and amortization 5,422 7.071 313 

! Total opnating expenses 25,316 130.035 81.682 

+ling income Oms) (21,028) 44,996 3,107 

Nonopcrating revenues ( a p n s s )  

I 
Grant revmue 21,707 
lnte~e~lJinveshrmt income 614 248 
l n m t  expense (834) (420) (352) 
Gain on disposal of asxb  620 34 
Other, net (7) (36) 

N a  nonopnating rcvmues (cxpmsa) 22,100 (138) (388) 

Income (loss) More incam taxa 1.072 44,858 2,719 
Income tax bmefit (cxpmx) (1,019) 
Loss aleibvfable to minority i n t m t  

Net Incom (loss) 1,072 44,858 1,700 
Dividends to primary government (1 2370) 

Change in net assets 1,072 32,488 1,700 

Net asscb, beginning of year 113,816 69,088 3,156 

Net assets (deficit), end of year $ 114.888 S 101,576 S 4,856 

See notes to basic financial stalements 
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CHEROKEE NATION 
NOTES TO THE BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30,2004 

1. SLrMRl ARY OF SIG3'IFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

The basic financial statements of the Cherokee Nation (the "Nation") have been prepared in conformity with 
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America ("GAAP") as applied to government 
units. The Governmental Accounting Standards Board ("GASB") is the accepted standard-setting body for 
establishing governmental accounting and financial reporting principles. With respect to proprietary 
activities, including component units, the Nation has adopted GASB Statement No. 20, Accounting and 
Financial Reporting for Proprietaty Funds and Other Government Entities That Use Proprietary Fund 
Accounting. The Nation has elected to apply all applicable GASB pronouncements, as well as Financial 
Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") pronouncements and Accounting Principles Board ("AF'B") Opinions 
issued on or before November 30, 1989, unless those pronouncements conflict with, or contradict, GASB 
pronouncements. 

Reporting Entity-The Nation is a tribal organization with Executive, Legislative, and Judicial Branches. 
The basic financial statements of the Nation present the reporting entity, which consists of the primary 
government, organizations for which the primary government is financially accountable. and other 
organizations for which the nature and significance of their relationship with the p~imary government are such 
that exclusion could cause the Nation's basic financial statements to be misleading or incomplete. 
Accordingly, the accompanying basic financial statements reflect the financial position and the operations of 
the Cherokee Nation received, disbursed, or in the custody of the Nation or the Bureau of Indian Affairs 
("BIA") and the United States Treasury, as its trustee, as well as all other funds and activities over which the 
Nation exercises financial accountability. The Nation's basic financial statements do not include the financial 
position or activities of various federal and state governmental agencies operating within tribal lands. The 
Nation determines its financial reporting entity in accordance with Governmental Accounting Standards 
Board Statement No. 14, "The Financial Reporting Entity," and based on that criterion, has included the 
following entities as component units within the Nation's basic financial statements: 

Discretely Presented Component Units-The component units' columns in the government-wide financial 
statements includes the financial data of the Nation's discretely presented component units. These discretely 
presented component units are reported in a separate column to emphasize that they are legally separate 6om 
the primary government. The following component units are included in the reporting entity because the 
primary government is financially accountable for and is able to impose its will on these organizations. 

Housing Authority of the Cherokee Nation of Oklahoma-The Housing Authority of the 
Cherokee Nation of Oklahoma ("HACV) was created under the provisions of the laws of the State of 
Oklahoma and provides affordable housing to low income Native Americans within the boundaries of 
the Nation. Effective October 1, 1997, the Native American Housing Assistance and Self- 
Determination Act ("NAHASDA) was implemented. The purpose of NAHASDA is to provide 
Federal assistance for Indian tribes in a manner that recognizes the right of Indian self-determination 
and tribal self governance. The Commissioners of the Housing Authority are nominated by the 
Principal Chief and confirmed by the Council of the Cherokee Nation. In September 2000, the Tribal 
Council of the Nation approved a legislative act that resulted in the Nation becoming the direct 
recipient of Depament of Housing and Urban Development ("HUD) funds formerly received 
directly by the HACN. Concurrent with this legislative act, the Nation and the HACN entered into a 
memorandum of understanding ("MOU") whereby the Nation agreed to pass through to the HACN a 
significant portion of the NAHASDA grant funds received by the Nation from HUD. Under the 



MOU, the Nation is responsible for oversight and compliance of the funds passed through to the 
HACN. As a result, HACN is considered to be a component unit of the Nation. 

Cherokee Affordable Housing, Inc. ("CAH) is a non-profit 501(c)3 corporation organized under the 
laws of the State of Oklahoma created primarily to serve as the eligible 50I(c)3 entity required to fill 
the position of general partner in the low income housing tax credit partnerships and related projects 
under development by the Housing Authority. CAH's financial activity is limited only to its role in 
the tax credit parmerships. The board of directors for CAH consists of the same board members of 
the Housing Authority. The president of CAH is the executive director of the Housing Authority. 
Based on the foregoing criteria and in compliance with the provisions of GASB No. 14, The 
Financial Reporting Entity, CAH is included as a "blended" component unit in the Housing 
Authority's financial statements. 

The Cherokee Nation and Cherokee Affordable Housing, Inc. entered into a management agreement 
in October 2004, for a period of one year for the Cherokee Affordable Housing, Inc. to manage and 
maintain the Tsa-La-Gi Apartments property, an enterprise activity of the Nation. As consideration 
for the services provided under this agreement, the Managing Agent, Cherokee Affordable Housing, F. 
Inc. is paid a Management Fee equal to 10% of total rent and laundry income received. In fiscal year L 

2004 the Managing Agent, Cherokee Affordable Housing, Inc. was paid a total management fee of 
$43,551. F 

Cherokee Nation Enterprises, Inc.-Cherokee Nation Enterprises, Inc. ("CNE") is a tribal 
corporation of the Nation, which operates gaming facilities, smoke shops, convenience stores, golf 
courses, a gift shop located in Oklahoma, and in 2004, acquired Will Rogers Downs, a horse racing 
facility. The Nation owns 100% of CNE, and while not directly managing the daily operations, is 
able to exert significant influence over CNE's activities as a result of its ownership. CNE is managed 
through a board of directors nominated by the Principal Chief of the Nation and approved by the 
Tribal Council. CNE's gaming operations are regulated by the Cherokee Nation Gaming 
Commission, an a m  of the Nation that has statutory oversight over gaming activity conducted by 
CNE. During 2004, CNE paid $652,000 to the Nation to cover costs associated with the Cherokee 
Nation Gaming Commission's oversight responsibilities. 

Will Rogers Downs, LLC ("WRD") is a limited liability company organized under the laws of the 
Cherokee Nation created to own and operate a horse racing facility in Claremore, Oklahoma. CNE is 

1 
the sole member owning 100% of the units of WRD. WRD was created on April 23, 2004. The 
president of CNE is the designated manager of WRD. Based on the foregoing criteria and in [: 
compliance with the provisions of GASB No. 14, The Financial Reporting Entity, WRD is included k: 
as a "blended" component unit in CNE's financial statements. WRD's operations since inception 
have been limited to renting the facilities for use by trainers, etc. pending formal approval for live 
racing. 

Rolling Hills Catering, LLC ("RHC") is a limited liability company organized under the laws of the 
Cherokee Nation created to serve as a separate legal entity from which to provide food and beverage 
services to Cherokee Casino Hotel and Resort. CNE is the sole member owning 100% of the units of 
RHC. RHC was created on April 28, 2004. The president of CNE is the designated manager of 
RHC. Based on the foregoing criteria and in compliance with the provisions of GASB No. 14, The 
Firtancial Reporting Enrig, RHC is included as a "blended" component unit in CNE's financial 
statements. RHC had no activity for fiscal year 2004: 



Cherokee Nation Industries, Inc., Cherokee Nation Distributors, Inc., & Cherokee Medical 
Services, L.L.C. (colIectively "CR1")-The Nation owns all of CM's outstanding stock, and while 
not directly managing the daily operations, is able to exert significant influence over CNl's activities 
as a result of its stock ownership and appointment of a majority of CNI's board members. Although 
legally separate entities, this group of companies operates undcr the same management team and 
issues combined financial statements. Cherokee Nation is the sole stockholder for each of these 
companies. CNI engages primarily in the production, assembly, and repair of electronic component 
parts and wiring systems, and the provisions of certain contract medical senices for the U.S. 
Government. The separately issued combined financial statements of C M  are prepared in accordance 
with accounting principles promulgated by the Financial Accounting Standards Board. The financial 
statements of CNI included in this report have been reclassified, as necessary, to conform to GASB 
principles. All information included in the Nation's financial statements for CNI is for the fiscal 
period ended June 30,2004. 

Cherokee Nation Business, Inc.-Cherokee Nation Business, Inc. ("CNB"), a tribal corporation, 
was created June 16, 2004, to provide "decision support" senices and strategic coordination to the 
Nation and to act as a holding company for certain Cherokee Nation investments in business 
enterprises. The primary activities entered into by CNB, for the fiscal year ended September 30, 
2004, consisted of organizing Cherokee Technologies, LLC, ("CT") to facilitate CNB's 51% 
ownership interest in Cherokee Connex, LLC a wireless internet service provider. The Nation owns 
100% of CNB and is able to exert significant influence over CNB's activities as a result of its 
ownership and board member appointments. 

Cherokee Nation Home Health Services, Inc.-Cherokee Nation Home Health Services, hic. 
("CNHHS"), a tibal corporation, was orgenized for the purpose of engaging in the home healthcare 
services. The Nation owns 100% of CNIIHS and is able to exert significant influence over CNHHS' 
activities as a result of its ownership and hoard member appointments. 

The financial statements for the discretely presented proprietary component units are presented as part of the 
accompanying basic financial statements. All discretely presented component units are presented as ~ m j o r  
funds. Selected disclosures for the discretely presented component units have been included in these notes to 
the basic financial statements. Separately issued audited financial statements with additional disclosures may 
be obtained for each of the above component units kom the Cherokee Nation Controller's office. 

Blended Component Units - A component unit whose operations are intertwined with those of the primary 
government are blended with the financial data of the primary government. There is no distinction between 
the data of the primary government and that of the component unit. The Nation's blended component units are 
as follows: 

Cherokee Nation Economic Development Trust Authority - The Economic Development Trust 
Authority ("EDTA"), a Community Development Financial institution, is certified by the U.S. 
Treasury Department. Cherokee Nation EDTA was created by Tribal Council Legislative Act 36-89 
as a mechanism to promote economic development. Its mission is to provide opportunities for 
income generation through economic development, to provide loans for business creationlexpansion, 
and to provide loans to qualified individuals whom have traditionally been denied through 
conventional lending sources. 

Cherokee Nation Comprehensive Care Agency - The Cherokee Nation Comprehensive Care 
Agency, "Agency" was established on January 29,2004. The agency was created to facilitate various 
Nation health care initiatives including the facilitation of joint ventures and other business related 
health activities. The Agency and the Tahlequah City Hospital entered into a joint venture on 



September 28, 2004, to create Cherokee Health Partners, LLC which is 51% owned by the Nation. 
Cherokee Health Partner, LLC is an Imaging Center located in the Tahlequah City Hospital. The 
initial senices to be provided are nuclear scans of the bones, heart, and lungs. The Nation has made 
an initial investment in Cherokee Health Partner, LLC in the amount of $148,000. The joint venture is 
recorded as an asset at the government-wide level: however it is not recorded at the fund level 
because it does not represent a currently available financial resource to this fund. 

Excluded Organizations- The following organizations do not meet the criteria for inclusion in the reporting 
entity, and accordingly their financial operations are excluded from this report. 

Cherokee Nation Education Foundation 

Cherokee National Historical Society 

Adair County Indian Credit Association 

Section 202 Housing Projects (except Tsa-La-Gi Apartments) 

Environmental Advisory Group 

In 2004, Cherokee Nation law required that all corporations incorporated under Cherokee Nation law are 
subject to a pay 25% of their net income as a dividend to the Nation. To date, CNE is the only Cherokee 
Nation Corporation to pay such dividend as it is the only discretely presented component unit incorporated 
under Cherokee Nation law that made a profit in 2004. The dividend requirement has not been applied to the 
Nation's blended component units that were incorporated under Cherokee Nation law. 

BASIS O F  PRESENTATTON 

Government-Wide Financial Statements-The government-wide financial statements provide operational 
accountability information for the Nation as an economic unit. The government-wide financial statements 
report the government's ability to maintain service levels and continue to meet its obligations as they come 
due. The statements include all governmental activities and all business-type activities of the primary 
government and its component units. These statements include the Statement of Net Assets and the Statement 
of Activities as directed by GASB Statement No. 34, Basic Firtancial Starernents - and Management's 
Discussion and Anahsis - f o r  State and Local Governments ("GASB 34"). Under GASB 34 reporting, 
fiduciary funds and fiduciary-type component units are omitted from the government-wide financial 
statements. 

Fund Financial Statements-The accounts of the Nation are organized on the basis of funds, each of which 
is considered to be an independent fiscal and accounting entity. The operations of each fund are accounted 
for within separate sets of self-balancing accounts, which comprise its assets, liabilities, fund equity, 
revenues, expenditures, and tmnsfers. The General Fund is always a major governmental fund. Other major 
funds are determined as funds whose revenues, expenditureslexpenses, assets or liabilities are at least ten 
percent of the totals for all governmental or enterprise funds and at least five percent of the aggregate amount 
for all governmental and enterprise funds for the same item. Funds not meeting the criteria of a major fund 
are aggregated and presented in a single column in the fund financial statements. The Nation uses the 
following funds, grouped by fund type. 

Governmental Funds--Governmental funds are those through which most governmental functions 
of the Nation are financed. The acquisition. use, and balances of the Nation's expendable financial 
resources and the related liabilities (except those accounted for in proprietary funds) are accounted for 
through governmental funds. 



General Fund-The General Fund represents the operating activities of the tribal 
government. All unrestricted resources not accounted for in other funds are reported 
in the General Fund. 

Special Revenue Funds-Special revenue funds are used to account for the proceeds 
of government grants or other specific revenue sources that are restricted by law or 
administrative action to finance particular functions or activities of the Nation. The 
following are the Nation's major special revenue funds: 

- Self Governance-DOI-Roads-Established to account for funds received 
from the Department of Interior ("DOI") to expand the Nation's 
transportation activities such as planning, designing, constructing, and 
maintaining transportation facilities. Roads constructed with DO1 funds 
are not capitalized by the Nation as they are transferred to other 
governmental agencies upon completion. These expenditures are 
generally presented as community service expenditures in the 
accompanying financial statements. 

- Self Governance-DHHSEstablished to account for funds received 
under the Nation's Self Governance compact with the United States 
Government. These funds are used to administer a number of programs 
under Indian Health Services relating to health and human services. These 
expenditures are generally presented as health and community services 
expenditures in the accompanying fmancial statements. 

- Housing and Urban Development-Established to account for grant 
funds received from the Department of Housing and Urban Development 
to improve living conditions and renovate homes of Indian residents. 
During fiscal 2004, the majority of the program expenditures were in the 
form of subrecipient payments to the Housing Authority, a discretely 
presented proprietary component unit of the Nation. These expenditures 
are generally presented as community service expenditures in the 
accompanying financial statements. 

- Permanent Funds-Permanent funds are used to report resources that are legally 
restricted to the extent that only earnings, and not principal, may be used for purposes 
supporting the Nation's programs. The Nation's Permanent Funds contain two 
endowments, both of which allow the expenditure of income for tuition and educational 
purposes, with the principal being unavailable for disbursement. The trust agreements 
state the distributions of income shall go to individuals one-quarter or more of Cherokee 
blood quantum. All fund balances from the endowments are restricted and reserved. 

Governmental fund financial statements include a balance sheet and a statement of revenues. 
expenditures and changes in fund balances for all major governmental funds and nonmajor funds 
aggregated. A reconciliation is presented to summarize the differences in net assets of the 
governmental fund financial statements and the net assets of the governmental activities in the 
government-wide financial statements. These differences are further explained in Note 2 to the basic 
financial statements. 

Proprietary Funds--Proprietary funds are used to account for the Nation's ongoing organizations 
and activities which are similar to those often found in the private sector vvhere the intent IS that costs 
of providing goods and services be recovered through user charges. The proprietary hnds  maintained 
by the Nation are internal service funds, enterprise funds, and discretely presented component units, 



which represent the activities of the various entities established by the Nation for income and job 
producing purposes. 

- Internal Service Funds-Internal service funds are used to report activities which 
provide goods or services to other funds, departments, or agencies of the primary 
government and its component units, or to other governments, on a cost-reimbursement 
basis. The Nation includes senices such as internal leases, force accounts, fringe pool, 
indirect cost pool, and tribal operations' construction management in these funds. 
Substantially all internal service funds' net assets and acti~lties are combined with the 
governmental activities in the government-wide financial statements. Note disclosures 
for governmental activities also include related amounts for the internal senice funds. 

- Enterprise Funds-The enterprise funds are proprietary funds that are used to report 
activities for which a fee is charged to external users. The Nation accounts for its 
Tsa-La-Gi Apartments, Cherokee Trails Golf Club, Landfill Operations, Ranch 
Operations, Childhood Development Centers, and Other enterprise activities in these 

f: 
funds. None of the Nation's enterprise funds are reported as major funds. In January 
2004, the Nation entered into a memorandum of understanding with CNE to transfer all L. 
operations and management in regards to the Cherokee Trails Golf Club. This agreement 
transferred all equipment and inventory located at the Cherokee Trails Golf Club and .F 
Clubhouse to CNE, except for the building. The building remains in the Cherokee Nation 
capital assets. During 2004, the Nation also completed the closure of the Ranch 
Operations. n! 

- Component Units-See pages 33 - 35 for descriptions of discretely presented 
component units. 

Enterprise and internal service fund financial statements include a statement of net assets, a statement of 
revenues, expenses and changes in fund net assets, and a statement of cash flows. A column representing 
internal service funds is also presented in these statements, with the internal service funds' net assets and 
activities combined with the governmental activities in the government-wide financial statements. 
Component unit financial statements include a statement of net assets and a statement of revenues, expenses 
and changes in fund net assets. No internal service or enterprise funds have revenue-backed outstanding debt. 
Therefore no segment information is required to be presented. 

i 

MEASUREMENT FOCUS AND BASIS OF ACCOUNTING 

Measurement Focus-The measurement focus determines the accounting and financial reporting treatment 
applied to a fund. The governmental and business-type activities within the government-wide Statement of 
Net Assets and Statement of Activities are presented using the economic resources measurement focus. The 
economic resources measurement focus meets the accounting objectives of determining net income, financial 
position, and cash flows. 

The fund financial statements use either the current financial resources measurement focus or the economic 
resources measurement focus as appropriate. Governmental funds use the current financial resources 
measurement focus. This measurement focus is based upon the receipt and disbursement of current available 
financial resources rather than upon net income. The measurement focus of the proprietary fund types, the 
flow of economic resources, is based upon determination of net income, financial position and cash flows. 



Basis of Accounting-The accrual basis of accounting is used throughout the government-wide financial 
statements; conversely, the financial statements of the General Fund, Special Revenue Funds, and Permanent 
Funds have been prepared in accordance with the modified accrual basis of accounting, whereby revenues are 
recognized when considered both measurable and available to finance expenditures of the current period. The 
Nation accrues intergovernmental property rentals and tax revenues based upon this concept. Expenditures 
are generally recognized when the related fund liabilities are incurred and become payable in the current 
period. Proceeds of debt are reported as other financing sources; and principal and interest on long-term debt 
are recorded as expenditures when paid. 

The financial statements of the Enterprise Funds, Internal Service Funds, and the proprietary component units 
have been prepared in accordance with the accrual basis of accounting. Accordingly, revenues are recorded 
when earned, and expenses and related liabilities are recorded when incurred. 

Accounting Policies-The Nation's significant accounting policies related to the following basic financial 
statement categories are summarized below: 

Cash and Cash Equivalents-The Nation considers all highly liquid investments in debt securities with 
maturities of three months or less when purchased to be cash equivalents. A "pooled cash" concept is used in 
maintaining certain cash accounts in the accounting records. Under this method, cash is pooled and each fund 
participating in the pool has equity in the pooled amount. Pooled cash accounts consist principally of interest- 
bearing and non-interest-bearing demand deposit accounts. 

Restricted Cash and Cash Equivalents-Amounts represent certain bank account balances restricted for 
specific purposes as described in Note 4. 

Investments-The Nation accounts for its investments in accordance with GASB Statement No. 31, 
Accounting and Financial Reportingjbr Certain hzvestmen!~ and for External Inveslment Pools. GASB 3 1 
establishes accounting and financial reporting standards for most investments held by governmental entities. 
The Nation reports investments at fair value. Fair value is determined using quoted market prices. 

Inventories 

The Nation, through its participation in the Clinics Program, maintains an inventory of pharmaceutical 
drugs received from the United States Department of Health and Human Services. Title to these 
inventories does not pass to the Nation, which acts only as a distribution agent for the federal government. 
The value of drugs on hand related to this program has not been included in the Nation's financial 
statements. 

The Nation maintains an inventory of the food received for disbursement from Cherokee Nation's Food 
Distribution program. Food acquisitions are initially recorded as inventory and as deferred revenue and 
are charged to expenditures as used, using the FIFO method. Food inventories are valued at the cost 
assigned to such food items by the granting agency. 

CNE's inventories consist primarily of smokeshop, convenience store, gift shop, and gaming inventories 
and are valued at the lower of cost FIFO or market. 

CNI's inventories are valued at the lower of cost FIFO or market and consist principally of raw materials 
and purchased finished goods. Reserves are provided for slow-moving or obsolete inventories. 

Capital Assets-The Nation's accounting policies regarding capital assets such as land, buildings, vehicles, 
and equipment are that these assets, with an initial cost of $5,000, or more are to be capitalized and 



depreciated over their estimated useful lives. Purchased or constructed capital assets are valued at historical 
cost or estimated historical cost. Donated capital assets are recorded at fair value at the date of the donation. 
Title to certain property and buildings utilized by the Nation, such as Sequoyah High School, the Child Care 
Development Center and other land is held by the federal government. Therefore, such assets arc not 
reflected as capital assets in the accompanying financial statements. The Nation has chosen the straight-line 
depreciation method for its capital assets based on the estimated useful lives of the capital assets as follows: 

Class of Asset 

Buildings and improvements 
Equipment 

Estimated Useful Life 

20-50 years 
3-20 years 

Fund Financial Statements-In the fund financial statements, capital assets used in governmental fund 
operations are accounted for as capital outlay expenditures of the governmental fund upon acquisition. 
Capital assets used in proprietary fund operations are accounted for in the same manner as in the 
government-wide statements. 

Deferred Grant R e v e n u e s T h c  Nation is the recipient of grants from several different federal and state 
agencies. In some instances, the grants are advance funded. The Nation records these grants as deferred 
revenue until the funds are expended in accordance with the grant terms. 

Landfill Site Development, Closure, and Postclosure Care Costs-The Nation capitalizes expenditures 
incurred for development of landfill cells for future use and amortizes such costs over the estimated life of the 
developed cell beginning upon its activation. The Nation, based on the cumulative amount of used capacity, 
accrues the currently estimated liability for closure and postclosure care costs. Such estimated costs include 
expected equipment and facility costs, costs of the final cover and postclosure care. 

Taxes 

The Nation, except for CNI, is exempt from federal and state income taxes; consequently, no provision 
for income taxes is included in the accompanying financial statements for any funds, excluding CNI. 

Tsa-La-Gi Apartments are registered as tribal lands held in trust. As such, it is exempt from the payment 
of property taxes. 

CNE pays a gaming tax based on certain gross revenues pursuant to provisions of the National Indian 
Gaming Regulatory Act. Amounts owed under the gaming tax are paid to the National Indian Gaming 
Commission ("NIGC") and have been reflected within operating expenses in the Statement of Revenues, 
Expenses, and Changes in Fund Net Assets. 

Compensated Absences-Vacation leave for the primary government is granted to all permanent full-time 
and eligible part-time employees. The annual amount of vacation time accrued varies. depending upon years 
of service, from 13 to 26 days for full-time employees. Permanent part-time employees earn vacation leave 
according to the pro-rata full-time hours worked. The maximum amount of vacation that may be accumulated 
and camed over to the following year is 30 days. Accumulated vacation leave vests, and the Nation is 
obligated to make payment, even if the employee temlinates. 

Upon request and approval the Cherokee Nation annually buys back designated amounts of accrued annual 
leave from Regular/Full Time and RegularPart Time employees, subject to restrictions based on funding 



agency guidelines as well as fund availability. In Fiscal Year 2004 the Cherokee Nation bought back 
$293,000 of accrued annual leave. 

Equity Classifications 

Government-Wide StatementsEquity is classified as net assets and displayed in three components: 

1. Invested in capital assets, net of related debt--Consists of capital assets, net of accumulated 
depreciation and reduced by the outstanding balances of any notes or other borrowings athibutable to 
those assets. 

2. Restricted net assets--Consists of net assets with constraints placed on the use either by external 
groups, such as grantors or laws and regulations of other governments, or law through Tribal 
constitutional provisions or enabling legislation. 

3.  Unrestricted net assets-All other assets that do not meet the definition of "restricted" or "invested 
in capital assets, net of related debt." 

Fund Financial Statements-Governmental fund equity is classified as fund balance. Fund balance is 
fiuther classified as reserved and unreserved. Proprietary fund equity is classified the same as in the 
government-wide statements. 

Revenue Recognition-The Nation considers revenue to be susceptible to accrual in the governmental funds 
as it becomes measurable and available, as defined under the modified accrual basis of accounting. The 
Nation defines the availability period for revenue recognition as ninety (90) days. The Nation's major 
revenue sources that meet this availability criterion are Motor Fuel Tax (MFT), Motor Vehicle Tax revenues 
and dividends declared by Component Units. 

Program RevenuesThere  are two classifications of programmatic revenues for the Nation, grant revenues 
and program income. Grant revenues are revenues fiom federal, state, and private grants. These revenues are 
recognized as the related expenditures are made and are reported as intergovernmental revenues. The primary 
source of program income is earned income in connection with the operation of the Nation's clinics and other 
health-related services, which are funded by the Department of Health and Human Services ("DHHS") Self 
Governance Compact. Under the provisions of the Self Governance Agreement with DIWS, the Nation is 
required to expend this program income for purposes similar to those funded by the basic DHHS Self 
Governance Compact. There are no specific requirements designating when or in what order program and 
other self governance funds should be spent. Program income earned from clinic and other health-related 
services during the year ended September 30,2004 was approximately $9.3 million. 

Operating and Nan-Operating R e v e n u e s I n  the Proprietary Funds and component units, operating 
revenues are those revenues produced as a result of providing senices and producing and delivering goods, 
including all transactions and other events. Non-operating revenues are funds primarily provided by investing 
activities, such as interest income and Federal grants received by HACN. 

Interest Income-Interest income is recorded as earned in the fund holding the interest bearing asset. 

Interest Income-Self Governance Compacts-The Nation receives certain amounts of advance funding as a 
self governance compact tribe in three large self governance compacts with the DO1 and DHHS. These funds 
are invested in interest-earning assets until the funds are expended under the terms of the self governance 
compacts. The Nation need not refund the interest earnings under these compacts and is not directly 



accountable to the DO1 or the DHHS for the expenditure of these interest earnings. The discretionary interest 
is recorded in thc Self Governance funds but is allocated to other programmatic expenditures through the 
budgeting process. During the year ended September 30, 2004, the Nation's interest earnings under the DO1 
Self Governance Compact, DO1 - Roads, and DHHS Self Governance Compacts were approximately 
$34,000, $1,008,000 and $333,000, respectively. 

Interest Income-Grants-The Nation receives certain amounts of advance funding in connection with three 
large grants: ( I )  NAHASDA, funded by HIJD, (2) the Sequoyah High School Grant, which is funded by the 
DOI, and (3) PL-102-477 which is funded by the Department of Labor ("DOL") and the DHHS through the 
DOI. The applicable legislation and regulations for each grant authorize the earning of interest on advance 
payments; the use of which is governed by the same. 

Internal Activities-The Nation's policy for eliminating internal activities in the Government-wide 
Statement of Activities is the look-back approach. This method prescribes that the internal service funds 
operate on a breakeven basis. The net profit or loss on an internal service fund is to be allocated to the 
government's programs/departments that benefited from the goods or services provided based on their 
proportionate benefit. 

Indirect Costs-The Government-wide Statement of Activities does not use a separate column to identify 
allocated indirect costs since the allocation is automatically calculated. Indirect costs are included in the 
program operating expenses reported for individual functions and activities in the fund statements. 

The Nation's indirect cost plan utilizes a fixed rate with carryforward. To the extent that actual indirect cost 
expenses differ materially from indirect cost recoveries, the difference is recorded as deferred revenue 
(overrecovered) or a deferred charge (underrecovered) and reversed in the period the difference is used to 
adjust the indirect cost rate. 

Budgets and Budgetary Accounting Policies--Title 62, 93 1-32 provides the legal level of budgetary control 
for the Cherokee Nation. The Executive and Finance Committee of the Council, upon direction of the 
Secretary-Treasurer and with advisement from the Conh.oller, shall formulate an annual appropriations bill. 
The bill shall contain the legal budgeted annual revenue and expenditures for the general fund, and enterprise 
funds, the executive, legislative, and judicial branches of government. The sources of revenue may be based 
upon estimates. The budgeted expenditures for these funds shall not exceed total estimated revenues and 
beginning fund balance. The Executive and Finance Committee of the Council, upon direction of the 
Secretary-Treasurer and with advisement from the Controller, shall be responsible for proposing amendments 
to the annual appropriations law based upon material changes in real or estimated revenues and expenditures 
that affect the total amounts budgeted. Any amendments to the annual appropriations bill shall be presented 
to the full Council for consideration and passage. Any funds received by the Cherokee Nation, the use of 
which is determined by the granting or contracting agency (special revenue funds) shall be used only for those 
purposes and under those conditions for which the funds are made available and such funds are not subject to 
legal appropriation by the Tribal Council. 

The basic financial statements contain a budget and actual comparative statement for the General Fund, a 
legally budgeted fund. A budgetary statement for enterprise funds, which are also legally budgeted, is 
included in the budgetary information section of Other Supplementary Information. 

Budgets for the Nation are prepared on the same basis of accounting as the financial reports; therefore, no 
reconciliation is necessary. 

Management Estimates-The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAF' requires 
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and 



disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts 
of revenues, expenditures, and expenses during the reported period. Actual results could differ from those 
estimates. 

Recently Issued Accounting Standards- The following accounting standards have been recently issued and 
will be adopted as applicable by the Nation in future years: 

Statement No. 40, Deposit and Investment Risk Disclosures, an arnendr~ient of GASB Statement No. 3 - This 
Statement establishes and modifies disclosure requirements related to investment risks: credit risk (including 
custodial credit concentrations of credit risk), interest rate risk, and foreign currency risk. This Statement also 
establishes and modifies disclosure requirements for deposlt risks: custodial credit risk and foreign currency 
risk. This Statement applies to all state and local governments. The provisions of this Statement are effective 
for financial statements of the Nation for the fiscal year ending September 30,2005. 

Statement No. 42, Accounting and Financial Reporting of Capital Assets and for Insurance Recoveries - This 
statement requires governments to report the effects of capital assets impairment in their financial statements 
when they occur rather than as a part of ongoing depreciation expense. The guidance also enhances 
comparability of financial statements by requiring all governments to account for insurance recoveries in the 

9 same manner. This statement will become effective for the Nation in the fiscal year ending September 30, 
! 2006. 

Statement No. 44, Economic Condition Reporting: l71e Statisrical Section - an amendment of NCGA 

I Statement I - This Statement establishes and modifies requirements related to the supplementary information 
presented in a statistical section. This statement will become effective for the Nation in the fiscal year ending 
September 30,2006. 

Statement No. 45, Accounting and Financial Reporting by Employers for Postemployment Benejits Oflrer 
Than Pensions - This Statement establishes standards of accounting and financial reporting for post 
employment health care and other benefits if provided separately from a pension plan. This statement will 
become effective for the Nation in the fiscal year ending September 30,2008. 

Management has not yet determined the impact of these statements on the Nation's financial statements. 

2. RECONCILIATION O F  GOWRNMENT-WIDE AND FUND FMANCIAL STATEMENTS 

The governmental fund balance sheet includes a reconciliation of total fund balance of the governmental 
fknds to the total net assets of the governmental activities in the statement of net assets. One element of that 
reconciliation explains that "capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation, used in governmental activities 
are not financial resources and therefore are not reported in the funds." The details of this $21,370,000 
difference are as follows (in thousands): 

Capital assets, net 
Less: Internal service fund capital assets 

Capital assets used in governmental activities $ 21,370 

Another element of that reconciliation explains that "Assets recorded in the government-wide financial 
statements are not available to pay for current period expenditures, therefore, are not recorded in the funds." 
The details of this $33,069,000 difference are as follows (in thousands): 



M S  Indirect Cost Settlement (Note 5) $ 18,038 
Arkansas River Drybed Lands Settlement receivable (Note 5) 14,301 
MFT Revenue held by State of Oklahoma 582 
Investment in Cherokee Health Partners, LLC 148 

Net Adjustment to increase fund balance - total governmental 
funds to arrive at net assets - governmental activities $ 33,069 

The fmal element of that reconciliation, excluding the net assets of the internal service funds of $4,502,000, 
explains that "certain liabilities are not due and payable in the current period and, therefore, are not reported 
in the funds." The details of this $9,249,000 difference are as follows (in thousands): 

IHS IDC Settlement legal fee liability (Note 5) $ 6,404 
Long-term debt - governmental funds 1,87 1 
Arkansas River Drybed Lands legal fee liability 774 
Disallowed costs settlement liability 200 

Net Adjustment to decrease fund balance - total governmental 
funds to amve at net assets - governmental activities $ 9,249 

A reconciliation of the net change in fund balance - total governmental funds reported in the statement of 
revenues, expenditures, and changes in fund balance for the governmental funds to the change in net assets of 
governmental activities reported in the statement of activities is presented in the accompanying basic financial 
statements. 

One element of this reconciliation explains "governmental funds report capital outlays as expenditures. 
However, in the statement of activities the cost of those assets is allocated over their estimated useful lives 
and reported as depreciation expense. This is the amount by which capital outlays exceeded depreciation in 
the current period." The details of this $713,000 difference are as follows (in thousands): 

Capital expenditures in governmental funds capitalized on government-wide 
financial statements $ 1,934 

Depreciation expense (1,445) 
Other 224 

Net adjustment to increase net changes in fund balances -total governmental 
hnds  to amve at changes in net assets of governmental activities $ 713 

Another element of that reconciliation states that "revenues in the statement of activities that do not provide 
current financial resources are not reported as revenues in the funds. These revenues are presented at the fund 
level as they become available." The details of this $5,228,000 difference are as follows (in thousands): 

Indian Health Services Indirect Cost Settlement, net v o t e  5) $ 11,634 
MFT Revenue held by State of Oklahoma 582 
Amounts accrued in government-wide in 2003, recorded 

at h d  level in 2004 (6,988) 

Net adjustment to increase net changes in fund balances - 
total governmental funds to arrive at changes in net assets of 
governmental activities $ 5,228 

Another element of that reconciliation states that "the issuance of long-term debt provides current financial 
resources to governmental funds, while the repayment of the principal of long-term debt consumes the current 



financial resources of governmental funds." The details of this $746,000 difference are as fo1lon.s (in 
thousands): 

Debt principal payments $ 1,272 
Amount provided from HACN to the Nation for Title VI payment (976) 
Proceeds from Long-term debt for EDTA (434) 
Proceeds from Long-term debt for EDTA previously recorded as 

grant revenue in FY 2003 (554) 
Amount received from HACN in FY 2004 for Title VI payment, 

payment made by Nation in FY 2005 -- sf?.) 
Net adjustment to decrease changes in fund balances- 

total govemmental funds to amve at changes in net assets of 
governmental activities. 

Some expenses are reported in the Statement of Activities when incurred and presented as expenditures in the 
governmental funds when paid. The details of this $883,000 difference are as follows (in thousands): 

Arkansas River Drybed Lands litigation legal fee 
Disallowed cost settlement 
Other 

Net adjustment to increase net changes in fund balance - 
total govemmental funds to amve at changes in net assets of 
governmental activities S 883 

Another element of that reconciliation states that "the internal service funds are used to account for those 
activities which provide services to other functions within the government. These costs are allocated to the 
governmental funds in the government-wide financial statements. This amount is the net effect of the 
allocations." The details of this $4,185,000 difference are as follows (in thousands): 

Internal Service Fund activities: 
Changes in net assets 
Amounts allocated to enterprise funds 

Net adjustment to decrease net changes in fund balance - 
total governmental funds to amve at changes in net assets of 
governmental activities 



3. STEWARDSHIP, COMPLIANCE. AND ACCOUNTABILITY 

The Internal Service Funds' Fringe Pool and Construction had net deficits of $3,951,000 and $551,000 
respectively, at September 30, 2004. If the above deficits cannot be recovered in future years through fringe 
charges and construction charges to other funds of the nation, the General Fund may be required to cover the 
deficits. 

4. DEPOSITS AND INVESTMEhTS 

Deposits-Deposits, categorized to give an indication of risk assumed at September 30, 2004, were as 
follows (in thousands): 

Bank Balance Total Bank Carrying 
Risk Category Balance Amount 

(1) (2) (3) . . . . . . 
Primary Government: 

Deposits $ 13,151 $ 70,379 $ - $ 83,530 $ 76,256 
Cash on hand - 87 

Component Units: 
Deposits 2,969 6,827 1,796 11.592 10,677 
Cash on hand - 13.201 

$ 16,120 $ 77,206 $ 1,796 $ 95.122 $ 100,221 

(1) Insured or collateralized with securities held by the NationIComponent Unit or by its agent in the 
Nation'slComponent Unit's name. 

(2) Collateralized with securities held by the pledging financial institution's trust department or agent in 
the Nation's/Component Unit's name. 

(3) Uncollateralized. 

The Nation's laws require that funds of the primary government be deposited in a financial institution that is 
insured, such as by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation ("FDIC"). Funds deposited in excess of 
federal deposit insurance are to be collateralized either by bonds, with a minimum of an AA rating, or by 
local, state, United States Government, or Cherokee Nation securities. Funds are not to be invested for a 
period in excess of 3 years without approval of the Executive and Finance Committee of the Tribal Council. 
Funds invested in a single financial institution in excess of $100,000 are to have joint custody receipts secured 
and pledged to the Nation. 



Investnlents-The Nation's permissible investments include corporate obligations, United States 
Government obligations and Certificates of Deposit. Investments, categorized as to collateral risk assumed, at 
September 30,2004 were as follows (in thousands): 

Bank Balance Carrying 
Risk Category Amount Fair Value 

(1 1 (2) (3) 
Primary Government: 
U.S. Government Securities $ 23,148 $ - $ - 
Certificates of Deposit 
Corporate Bonds 

Component Units: 
U.S. Government Securities 5,883 - 5,883 5,883 
Certificates of'Deposit 8,367 - - 8,367 8,367 

Total investments 

(1) Insured or registered, or securities held by the NationtComponent Unit or its agent in the 
Nation's/Component Unit's name. 

(2) Uninsured and unregistered, with securities held by the counterpafly's trust department or agent in the 
Nation's/Component Unit's name. 

(3) Uninsured and unregistered, with securities held by the countelparty or by its trust department or 
agent but not in the Nation'sIComponent Unit's name. 

Restricted Cash. Cash Equivalents and Investments-Restricted cash, cash equivalents and investments 
and reserved cash at September 30, 2004 included the following: 

$153,000 representing tenant security deposits held in trust, replacement reserves and mortgage escrow 
deposits for Tsa-La-Gi. 

Unspent proceeds of $2,112,000 in the Internal Service Funds obtained from bank financing. 

$1,335,000 relating to the capital replacement and closure and postclosure care costs of the Landfill 
Operations fund. 

$1 1,325,000 reflecting the balance in Motor Fuel Tax Education Trust. 

$525,000 relating to scholarship funds. 

$4,947,000 relating to Indirect cost settlement restricted for expanding health care facilities and cash 
reserves. 

$3,275,000 relating to the Motor Fuel Tax Scholarship Reserve. 

$4,060,000 restricted for construction at Sequoyah High School. 

$25,000 reserved for natural resources replacement. 

$2,492,000 held in escrow rclating to the Title VI loan with a bank (see Note 9). 

The use of General Fund cash and cash equivalents may also be subject to reservations of fund balances 
established by the Tribal Council (see Note 1 I). 



Reconciliation of note information to the accompanying statement of net assets (in thousands): 

Carrying amounts per note: 
Deposits 
Investments 

Balance sheet accounts: 
Cash and cash equivalents 
Investments 
Restricted cash, cash equivalents and 
investments 

Primary Component 
Government Units Total 



5. RECEIVABLES 

Receivables at September 30, 2004 consisted of the following (in thousands): 

Primary Government 
Entitlements1 

Grants 8 Contracts Accounts Interest 
Receivable Receivable Receivable Total 

Governmental Fund Receivables: 
General 
Motor fuel taxes 
Other taxes 
Other 

I 
Special Revenue Funds: 

a 
3 Governmental fund receivables 

n Receivables recorded in the Govemment-wide 

I fmancial statements that are not recorded 
in the funds: 

I 
Arkansas River Drybed Lands Settlement 
MFT Revenue held by State of Oklahoma 
IHS Indirect Cost Settlement 

Other - Internal Senice Funds 

Receivables of Governmental Activities 

Accounts not scheduled for 
collection during the 

I subsequent year 

1 
Business Type Activities: 
Landfill operations 
Other 

Less: Allowance for uncollectible 
accounts 



Component Units 

HACN CNE CNI CNB CNHHS Total 
Receivables: 
Accounts 
Interest 

Gross receivables 

Less: Allowance for 
uncollectibles - (221) ( 5 4 )  (275) 

Receivables, net $ 693 $ 1,230 $ 11,069 $ - $ 228 $ 13,220 - 

Arkansas River Drybed Lands Settlement- The Arkansas River Dry Bed Settlement receivable relates to 
an agreement reached with the Federal government in 2003, whereby the Nation was awarded a settlement of F 
$20,000,000 to be paid at the rate of $5,000,000 per year commencing in 2004. The $20,000,000 settlement 1 ., 
was recorded in the government-wide financial statements in 2003. In addition to the scheduled $5,000,000 
payment received in 2004, the also Nation received an additional $699,000 payment in October 2004 that was 
accrued in the Nation's other governmental funds at September 30, 2004. The remaining receivable at 

r 
September 30, 2004 of $14,301,000 that is not reflected in the fund level financial statements is reflected in 
the Nation's Government-wide statement of net assets. The Nation has agreed to pay $1,082,000 in legal fees 
in connection with this settlement which will generally be paid on a prorata basis as payments are received 1' , . 
from the Federal Government. At September 30, 2004, $308,000 of this legal fee liability is reflected in the 
fund level financial statements and the total legal fee liability of $1,082,000 is reflected in the govemment- 
wide financial statements. As part of the settlement agreement, the Nation could also be required to pay up to 
$2,000,000 of any future settlements made by the federal government with other Native American Indian 
Tribes. This portion (10%) of the payments received to date of $570,000 is being held in a separate account 
by the federal government and is not available to the Nation until this contingency is resolved. As a result this 
portion of the proceeds is reflected as restricted net assets in the accompanying financial statements. Pursuant 
to an act passed by the Cherokee Nation Tribal Council in 2004 the settlement proceeds, after payment of 
legal fees and other claims, if any, are reserved for the purchase of land in designated areas. 

IHS Indirect Cost Settlement- The M S  Indirect Cost Setllement receivable above relates to the resolution 
of claims submitted in prior years for the nonpayment of contract support costs (including indirect costs) by rr 
the Indian Health S e ~ c e s  (IHS) during fiscal years 1994 through 1997. These claims were the subject of 

1 

various administrative and legal proceedings over the last several years. On March 1, 2005 the matter was 
finally resolved by a decision of the Supreme Court of the United States which ruled in favor of the Nation. A 
portion of the claim receivable $8,500,000 was specifically stipulated by the lower courts and a portion of the 
claim $3,818,000 is the Nation's best estimate of the amount it will receive after additional negotiation with 
MS. These amounts together with interest of $5,720,000 make up the receivable balance presented above. In 
connection with this litigation the Nation incurred legal fees and related costs of approximately $6,404,000. 
This receivable and related liability for legal fees are reflected in the accompanying government-wide 
statement of net assets and the net amount is reflected as a general revenue item in the government-wide 
statement of activities. This settlement will be reflected in the Nation's fund level financial statements as 
received. 



6. INTERFUND BALANCES AND TRANSFERS 

Interfund balances at September 30, 2004 consisted of the following (in thousands): 

Due to General Fund from: 
Nonmajor enterprise funds 
Internal service funds 
Self Governance DO1 - Roads 
Self Governance DHHS 
Housing and Urban Development 
Nonmajor governmental tirnds 

Total due to general fund fiom other funds 

Due to nonmajor governmental funds from: 
General Fund 

Due to nonmajor enterprise funds from: 
General firnd 

Due to internal service funds from: 
General firnd 

Interfund balances result from the time lag between the dates that interfund goods and services are provided 
or reimbursable expenditures occur, and the date payments between funds are made. 

Interfund transfers for the year ended September 30,2004 consisted of the following (in thousands): 

Transfer 
To General fund from: 

Self Governance DO1 Roads 
Nonmajor govemmental funds 
Nonmajor enterprise finds 

Total transfers to General fund 

To enterprise fund from: 
General h n d  

To nonmajor governmental funds from: 
General fund 
Other nonmajor govemmental funds 
Housing and Urban Development 

Other transfers - transfers of capital assets from 
Cherokee Trails Golf Club to governmental capital assets 

Amount 

Transfers are generally used to ( I )  move revenues from the fund that statute or budget requires to collect them 
to the fund that statute or budget requires to expend them or (2) move unrestricted revenues collected in the 
General Fund, or other funds, to finance various programs accounted for in other funds in accordance with 
budgetary authorizations. 



The Nation's inventories were comprised of the following at September 30,2004 (in thousands): 

Finished goods and 
raw materials 

Food for distribution 
Supplies 

Total inventories 

Internal Nonrnajor 
Selvice Governmental Component 
Funds Funds Units Total 

The majority of the component unit inventory at September30, 2004'relates to CNI, a component unit .. . 

engaged in the production, assembly, and repair of electronic component parts for the telecommunications 
and other industries. 

n 
I , ]  
-3, 

8. CAPITAL ASSETS 
P 

A summary of capital assets activity by major class, for the year ended September 30, 2004 follows (in 
thousands): $ 

Governmental Activities Balance, Additions Balance. 
September 30. and Net September 30, 

2003 Transfers Retirements 2004 

Activity by Major Class 
Capital assets, not being depreciated - 
Land $ 8,987 $ 11 $ - $ 8,998 

Capital assets being depreciated: 
Buildings and improvements 23,665 2,499 - 26,164 
Equipment 16,330 2,824 (81) 19,073 

Total capital assets 
being depreciated 

Less accumulated depreciation for: 
Buildings and improvements (7,063) (579) - (7,642) 
Equipment (10,001) (1,907) 70 (1 1,838) 

Total accumulated depreciation (17,064) (2,486) 70 (19,480) 

Total capital assets being 
depreciated, net 22,931 2,837 (11) 25,757 

Activity by major class capital 
assets, net $ 31,918 $ 2,848 - 9 $ 34,755 



Depreciation expense was charged to functions as follows: 
Govemmental activities: 
Tribal Government 
Health Services 
Education Services 
Human Senices 
Community Services 
Other Tribal Senices 

Total Governmental activities depreciation expense $ 2,486 - 
Business-Type Activities Balance, Additions Balance, 

September 30. and Net September 30, 

2003 Transfers Retirements 2004 
Capital assets, not being depreciated - 
Land $ 105 $ - $ - $ 105 

Capital assets being depreciated: 
Buildings and improvements 6,704 278 (555) 6,427 
Machinery and equipment 2,983 - 9 (696) 2,296 

Total capital assets being 
depreciated 9,687 287 (1,251) 8,723 

Less accumulated depreciation for: 
Buildings and improvements (1,344) (538) 373 (1,509) 
Machinery and equipment (2,134) (248) 668 (1,714) 

Total accumulated depreciation (3,478) (786) 1,041 (3,223) 

Total capital assets being 
depreciated, net 6,209 (499) (210) 5,500 

Busmess-type aChvlheS caprtal 
assets, net $ 6,314 $ (210) $ 5,605 

Many of the balances at September 30, 2003 as presented in the previous two tables differ from the balances 
presented in the prior year report. For the business-type activities these changes had no net effect and were 
made to more accurately reflect classifications of depreciable and nondeprecialble assets. For the 
Govemmental activities these changes included minor reclassification between categories and a net change of 
$224,000 which has been reflected in the statement of  activities as an adjustment to primary government 
expenses. 



Com~onent  Unit Activities Balance, Additions Retirements Balance, 
September 30, and and September 30, 

2003 transfers in transfers out 2004 
CNE and HACN: 
Capital assets, not being depreciated: 
Land $ 17,612 $ 2,509 $ . (548) $ 19,573 
Construction in progress 26,220 67,309 (61,586) 31,943 

Total capital assets not being 
depreciated 43,832 69,818 (62,134) 51,516 

Capital assets being depreciated: 
Buildings and improvements 150,525 50,676 (3,937) 197,264 
Machinery and equipment 24,717 15,239 (2 13) 39,743 

Total capital assets being . .. 
depreciated 175,242 65,915 (4,150) 237,007 

-8 

Less accumulated depreciation for: F,l  
(64,229) 

[,,.I 
Buildings and improvements (59,983) (6,803) 2,557 
Machinery and equipment (14,028) (5,690) 214 (19,504) 

(74.01 1) (12,493) 2,771 (83,733) 
p 

Total accumulated depreciation 
I 

Total capital assets being 
depreciated, net 101,231 53,422 ( 1,379) 153,274 y 

CNE and HACN activities capital 
assets-net 145,063 123,240 (63,513) 204,790 

Other Component Unit activities - 
CNHHS, CM and CNB capital assets, net 947 1,722 (36) 2,633 

Total of the Component Unit 
activitiescapital assets, net 

F: 
Due to an error in the preparation of a capital asset schedule during fiscal year 2002, the beginning balance of 
net assets for fiscal year 2003 for HACN, as presented above, has been reduced by $431,203 to reflect the 

1 
correction of  amounts previously reported. 



LONG-TERM DEBT 

Long-term debt activity for the year ended September 30,2004 was as follows (in thousands): 

Governmental  Activities 

Notes Payable 
3.7% Note payable to Bank of 
America. See ( I )  below. 

Note payable to bank in fixed 
principal payments. See (2) below 

Note payable to bank bearing interest at 
Chase Prime (4% at September 30, 
2004) in monthly installments of $18 
including interest, with final payment 
due in October 2006, collateralized by 

[I future operating transfers from CNE 
(Ilrmied 80 $1 6 per month) to the Kat~on 

Note payable to bank collateralized by 

? real estate bearing interest at 4% in 
monthly installments of approximately 
$5,000 maturing in 2008. 

Note payable to an individual in annual 
installments of $80, without interest, 
with final payment due in March 2006, 
c o l l a t e r a l i ~  by real estate. 

Note payable to the Bureau of Indian Affairs 
in monthly installments of $2, including 
interest of 7.625%. with final payment due 
in January 2010, collaneralized by certain 
lease proceeds. 

Note payable to the Depamnent of 
Agriculture in variable annual installments 
including interen of 1% per annum, with 
final payment due October 16,2030. 

Capital Leases 
Capital leases payable to Caterpilier 

Financial S e ~ c e s  with aggregate monthly 
installments of $9.71 1 inlcuding interest, with 
with interest rates ranging from 4.29% to 
4.44% and final payment due October 2009. 
Secured by related equipment. 

Total long-term debt 

Compensated Absenres (See (3) helow) 

Total long-term debt and 
compensated absences 

Balance, Bslanca. 
October 1, September 30. Current LongTenn 

2003 Additions Reductions 2004 Portion PoRbn 

(1) In May 2003, the Nation entered into a $5,000,000 financing agreement with a bank lo fund capital 
improvement projects and to re-finance the 1992 Seties Revenue Bonds. This note bears interest at 



3.7% per annum, in monthly principal and interest installments of $49,913 with final payment due 
in May 2013. The Nation is in compliance with the financial covenants of this financing agreement 
at September 30,2004. 

(2) In July 2002, the Nation entered into a $50,000,000 loan agreement, guaranteed by United States 
Department of Housing and Urban Development Title VI program. The loan proceeds are divided 
into two separate "pools" which cany different interest rates over the life of the loan. Pool A, 
whose balance at September 30, 2004 was $1 1,524,000 carries an interest rate of 6.7%. Pool B, 
whose balance at September 30, 2004 was $7,500,000 carries a variable interest rate, reset monthly, 
derived from the 30 day LIBOR + 70 basis points, which at September 30,2004 was 2.54%. Pool A 
is repayable in monthly principal payments of $54,358 through May I ,  2022, plus interest. Pool B 
is an interest only loan until the April 1, 2005 payment at which time principal payments of $36,232 
will begin through June 1, 2022, plus interest. The loan matures in December 2022. The loan 
proceeds are being transferred to the HACN under a loan agreement between the Nation and the 
HACN to provide hnding for construction or acquisition of 580 single-family homes within the 
Nation's fourteen county jurisdictional area. The Housing Authority will provide constmction and 
acquisition of housing for eligible participants using Title VI loan proceeds "drawn down" through b? 
the Nation. As part of its participation in the Title VI loan, the Housing Authority was required to LA 
deposit securities in escrow with Bank One in an amount equal to five percent of the total loan 
balance, or approximately $2,500,000. These securities are being pledged as collateral for the Title V 
VI loan to cover the portion of the loan balance not guaranteed by HUD. The interest and dividends 
generated on these securities remains the property of the Housing Authority. As collateral for the 
Title VI loan, the Nation has pledged all current and future grants for which the borrower becomes 
eligible under NAHASDA as well as program income directly generated from the use of the loan f 
proceeds, program income derived from the sale or lease of real property acquired, rehabilitated or 
constructed with loan proceeds, and the securities deposited to the Pledge Account. Any program 
income generated from the above is required to be deposited into a "Loan Repayment Account" to 
serve as an additional source of payment of principal and interest related to the Title VI loan. In 
2004, $9,755,000 was drawn against the loan and passed through to the HACN. Accordingly, this 
amount together with prior draw downs is reported as long-term debt and as a note receivable from 
HACN. The Nation's note receivable from HACN at September 30, 2004 was $19,024,000, of 
which, $855,000 is included in notes receivable current and $18,169,000 is reflected as long term 
notes receivable in the government-wide statement of net assets. (See Footnote 2 on page 59.) j: 

4 

(3) Compensated absence liabilities are generally liquidated by the Fringe Pool Intemal Service Fund, 
whlch allocates to and collects from other funds andfor departments within the Nation. 

l !  



The balance of long-term debt for business-type activities at September 30, 2004, was $1,217.000. The 
balance of Long-Term Debt for Component Units at September 30, 2004, was $35,114,000. Long-term deb! 
in the business-type activities and component units at September 30, 2004 consisted of the following (in 
thousands): 

Business-Tvpe Activities Balance. Balance, 

October 1. September 30, Current Long-Term 
2003 Additions Reductions 2004 Portion  omo on 

Tsa-La-Gi Apartments 
6.875% note payable to the U.S. 

Department of Housing & Urban 
Development (HUD) in monthly 
installments of $10,000 including 
interest, with final payment due 

Ij 2012, secured by certain land and 
buildings. $ 803 $ - $ (71) $ 732 S 76 $ 656 

;I 
I,' 

Landfill Operations 
./ 4.0% note payable to Caterpillar Financial 

Services in monthly installments 
of 64,000 including interest with final 

? payment due April 2008. Secured by 
related equipment. 

4.865% note payable to Denicks Leasing 

B and Financial Company in monthly 
installments 01$4,353 including 
interest with final payment due 
July 2008. Secured by related 
equipment. 

7.75% note payable to Bank of Cherokee 
County in monthly installments of $8,165 
including interest, with final payment 
due December 2005, secured by 
related equipment. 

1 Ranch Operations 
8% note payable to the Bureau of 

Indian Affairs in monthly installments 

! of $2,000 including interest, nith 
the final payment due in May 2005, 

1 secured by certain equipment, 
fixtures and inventory. - 13 (13) - - -- 

Total 



Component U n i t s  Balance. 
October 1. 

2003 
cherowee  Nation Industries, Inc. ("cNI") 
Revolving line of credit. See (1) below. $ 7.977 

Note payable from a bank with monthly 
installmonls of15 including intaest at the 
treasury rate plus 2.5% (6.213% at June 30, 
2004). The note matures in September 2005 
and is secured by equipment. I l l  

Promisson, note oavahle to creditor for resmcturine an 
existine trade oavable initiated in fiscal 2002 for inventom 
ourchases tomline 17.957.000 to a lone-term oromissom 
notc. As of Julv 2003 the t m  ofthe ommissow note 
were amended as follows: for the om'od bepinnine Julv 
throueh June 2004. monthlv oavments were to be the 
ereala ofeither(l1 45% oithe cast ofanolicable oroduct 
sales for the immediatelv oreccdine month or (21 $85: for 
the immediatelv mecedine manth or (2) $85: for the Den'od 
ofJulv 2004 thmueh Aueust 2005 (21 $30: for theneriod 
Aucurl2004 thmush the drtr on u hvch the mluc of 
aonlteahlc lnvmlon 13 euurl lo or leqc than the un~ald 
mincioal balance of the oromisson note CNI is muired to 
oav 45% of the cost ofaoolicable moduct sales lor the 
immediately arecedinn month Mnur $50. For the oericd 
from the eutovmdate thmueh March 15.2005. CNI is 
rdaulred lo Tab an amnun l~d31  to $0 o ollhc cost o i  
rnol>cahlr mudun sales for the immd*flstrlr orccedtne 
month mmus $50 t+cnucvn. ~ f t h e  rr.5~11 is ,LTU or 
no oavmmt is due nor is anv refund due to CNI. 

On March 15,2005, the  less^ of 50% of the remaining 
annlicable inventam or anvorincioal in excess of $1.280 
will be foieiven at the ootion ofCNI. The adiusted balance 
will be amortized o v a  72 monthlv installmenu. wilh interest 
calculated at 4%. (Note 15) 7.201 

Cherokec Medical Senices ("CMS"1 
Note payable to CNI with and all accrued 
interest calculated at 4.75%, payable June 30,2003 1,404 

Housing Authority a r t he  Cherokee Nation ("HACN") 
Note payable to Cherokee Nation in fixed 

monthly principal payments 01 $44,201, with 
interest calculated on the outstanding balance each 
month. As collateral for the loan. HACN has ~ ledeed  . . 
all c u m 1  and fuww pants ,  for uhlch thr 
lwrrroun bwomec ei~plhle undn 4AIIASDA. as 
well as income directly generated from the use of 
loan praceds, program income derived from the 
sale or lease of real property acquired, 
rehabilitated or constructed with loan proceeds 
oithe securities deposited to the pledge account. 10,245 
See (2) below. 

Chcrakrc Medical Services ("CMS") 
Notes payable to various automotive companies in monthly 

installments, wilh interest al0.9%, collateralized by vehicles. 
Tlie nolcs mature on various dales bemeen 2003 and 2004. 8 

Chcrokee Nation H o w  Health Servirr ("CNHHS") 
8% Note payahle to bank on a $256,000 

lint ofcredit. which exains an Anril 27.2004. 
Ihe l l n e o f s h h  I. cul iaard i~ ,d 'b~ ,  and 
Itmlled to. 65'0 olcl~g8hlr. acco.ntr rmr~vshle. 
and penonally guaantecd by CNHHS allicers. 30 

Cherokec Nation Businesses ("CNB") 
Revolving I'ramissor). Note, See (3) below. - 
Total $26,976 - 

Balance, 
September 3. Current LonpTerm 

Additions Reductions 2004 Portion Portion 



(I)  CNI has a $14 million revolving line of credit expiring in October 2007. At June 30, 2004, there 
was approximately $7,705,000 borrowed against this line of credit. This line of credit is 
collateralized by substantially all of the assets of CNI. Interest on borrowings against the line of 
credit is based on the bank's prime rate (4.25% at June 30, 2004) and is payable monthly. The line 
of credit is 80% guaranteed by the Bureau of Indian Affairs. The amount of funds advanced on this 
line of credit are not to exceed 50% of eligible inventory plus 80% of eligible accounts receivable or 
$14,000,000 whichever is less. 

(2) During fiscal year 2004 and 2003, the Housing Authority received loan advances totaling 
$9,755,000 and $10,245,000, respectively, related to the Title VI program. The loan proceeds are 
divided into two separate "pools" which cany different interest rates over the life of the loan. Pool 
A, whose balance at September 30, 2004 was $1 1,524,000 carries an interest rate of 6.7%. Pool B, 
whose balance at September 30, 2004 was $7,500,000 cam'es a variable interest rate, reset monthly, 

I derived from the 30 day LIBOR + 70 basis points, which at September 30,2004 was 2.54%. Pool A 
is repayable in monthly principal payments of $54,358 through May 1, 2022, plus interest. Pool B 

1 is an interest only loan until the April 1,2005 payment at which time principal payments of $36,232 
. I  will begin through June 1, 2022, plus interest. During fiscal year 2004, the HACN made total 

principal payments on Pool A of $976,08 1. (See Footnote 2 on page 56.) 

(3) CNB has received a line of credit from CNE in the form of a Revolving Promissory Note for up to 
$4,000,000. Interest is prime rate plus one percent (5.5% at September 30, 2004), and is to be paid 
monthly commencing July 3 1, 2005. The interest incurred through July 3 1, 2005 will be added to 

!I the principal balance and thereafter interest payments will be made on a monthly basis. The unpaid 
principal of the note is due on June 30,2007. 

Maturities of long-term debt for the Governmental and Business-type Activities are as follows (in thousands): 

Principal Interest Total 

Governmental Activities: 
2005 1,724 1,24 1 2,965 
2006 1,892 1,100 2,992 
2007 1,709 1,010 2,719 

'I 2008 1,746 930 2,676 
j 2009 1,758 844 2,602 

2010 through 2014 7,609 2,528 10,137 
2015 through 201 9 5,835 1,526 

I 
7,361 

2020 through 2024 3,299 236 3,535 
2025 through 2029 200 10 210 
2030 through 203 1 82 1 83 

1 $25,854 $ 9,426 $35,280 

Business-Type Activities: 
2005 
2006 
2007 
2008 
2009 
2010 through 2014 
2015 through 2019 
2020 through 2024 



10. CNE LIRT OF CREDIT 

CNE entered into a $40 million dollar, two part, revolving line (Line) of credit with a bank on October 14, 
2003. The line provides for a separate $25 million dollar reducing line (Line A) available through November 
1, 2008 and a separate $15 million dollar non-reducing line (Line B) available through November 1, 2004. 
Both lines may be renewed for one additional year with the payment of a fee. The non-reducing line was 
renewed November 1, 2004 and extended to November 1, 2005. Both lines have an incentive based pricing 
rate scale based on a specific ratio calculation, determined annually. The initial rate was prime plus 25 basis 
points. At September 30, 2004, the interest rate in effect was 5.10%. No amounts were drawn on Line A. 
The amount outstanding on Line B a1 September 30, 2004 was $8,375,245. The line of credit and CNE's 
business checking account utilize a daily sweep arrangement. Under this agreement, available cash balances 
are applied against W ' s  line of credit. The line increases as checks are issued based on a set borrowing 
base and decrease as deposits are received. The line of credit is secured by a pledge of revenues, inventory, 
accounts receivables, and equipment. The line of credit is subject to affirmative covenants concerning 
financial ratios and is also subject to negative covenants. 

FI 
i-1 

11. FUND BALANCE DESIGNATIONS AND RESERVATIONS 
1 

I 

At September 30, 2004, the Nation had a total General Fund fund balance of $44,013,000. This balance I 

includes $33,287,000 that has been reserved by the Legislative Act or restricted by external sources and an 
unreserved h n d  balance of $10,726,000. A brief description of the reserved elements of the Nation's General $ 
Fund fund balance follows: 

Motor Fuel Tax-The Nation began receiving Motor Fuel Tax dollars in 1997 and based on existing 
agreements with the State of Oklahoma, will continue receiving such funds until 2016. These funds are 
subject to general restriction under the agreement with the State of Oklahoma. Cherokee Nation Legislative 
Act 10-97 further restricted the use of these funds to those matters specifically appropriated by Act 10-97 and 
future legislative acts. A summary of activity in this reserved fund balance during the year ended September 
30, 2004 follows (in thousands): 

Balance at beginning of year 
FY2004 Motor Fuel Tax revenues 
Interest earnings on unexpended funds 
Actual expenditures 

Balance at end of' year 

Motor Vehicle Tax-In 2002, the Nation negotiated with the State of Oklahoma a licensing compact in 
which the Nation could license motor vehicles and other vehicles owned by the Nation's enrolled citizens 
living within the jurisdictional area of the Cherokee Nation. The Cherokee Nation Motor Vehicle Code 
provided for annual payments by the Nation of 38% of such of revenues to Oklahoma public schools, 
Sequoyah High School, and Cherokee Nation Head Start Centers, an amount equal to 20% of such revenues 
for counties, municipalities, and federally- and/or state-funded highway construction or maintenance projects 
located within the jurisdictional area, and up to 20% of the remaining revenues net of costs incurred in 
administering the tag office for funding local law enforcement within the jurisdictional area. The term of the 
compact shall remain for a period of ten years. Amounts restricted for schools, highways, and law 
enforcement at September 30,2004 totaled approximately $4,693,000. A summary of activity in this reserved 
fund balance during the year ended September 30,2004 follows (in thousands): 



Balance at beginning of year 
FY2004 Motor Vehicle Tax revenues 
Interest earnings on unexpended funds 
Actual expenditures 

Balance at end of year 

Indirect Cost Settlement-In 2001, the Nation was awarded a settlement as a member of the class action 
from the 10" Circuit Court of Appeals for under-recovered indirect costs for the years 1989 through 1993 
(Ramah Navajo Chapter, et al v. Norton). Use of funds is only restricted by the terms of the settlement 
agreement approved by the Court for activities under P.L. 93-638 as amended. These funds were further 
restricted by Legislative Act 04-01, to those matters specifically appropriated by the Tribal Council. A 
summary of activity in this reserved fund balance during the year ended September 30, 2004 follows (in 
thousands): 

Balance at beginning of year 
Interest earnings on unexpended funds 
2004 Indirect Cost Settlement 

Balance at end of year $ 4,947 

Cash Reserve-In 2002, Legislative Act 5-02, authorized the establishment of a permanent Cash Reserve 
Fund to be maintained at 1.75% of total authorized appropriations in the annual comprehensive budget for 
each and every subsequent year thereafter. The total of this reserve at September 30,2004 was $1,256,000. 

Sesuovah Hieh School-In 2003, Legislative Act 5-03, appropriated $4,000,000 from the General Fund, 
specifically derived andlor accumulated from the monthly CNE dividends of the fiscal year to fund the 
construction of the Multi-Purpose Facility at Sequoyah High School. This amount was to be "Reserved by 
Appropriation" and placed in a separate, restricted interest bearing account pending necessary architectural 
and engineering work to be performed in obtaining a specific project cost estimate. Legislative Act 17-04 
increased the amount to be funded to the Multi-Purpose Facility by $2,000,000 and authorized the funds to be 
reallocated to the Construction Fund from current year reserves to cover project costs. It did not require a 
reservation of the fund balance on the additional $2,000,000. The reserved fund balance and interest 
accumulated on the Sequoyah High School Multi-Purpose Facility at September 30, 2004 follows (in 
thousands): 

Balance at beginning of year 
Interest earnings on unexpended funds 

Balance at end of year $ 4,060 



Unreserved General Fund-A summary of activity in the unreserved General Fund balance for the year 
ended September 30,2004 follows (in thousands): 

Unreserved fund balance at beginning of year 
FY2004 General Fund revenues and transfers in 

Less: 
Additional funds restricted by Tribal Council in 2004 
Actual expenditures and transfers out 

Unreserved fund balance at end of year 

The remaining fund balance reserved by legislative acts resides in other governmental funds and consists of 
$4,821,000 of Arkansas River Drybed Lands Settlement funds reserved for the acquisition of land and 
$2,665,000 of funds on deposit with the DO1 that can not be spent without advance approval of the Tribal 
Council. Fq 

ti . 

12. LANDFILL CLOSURE AND POSTCLOSURE CARE COSTS fl 
I 

The Nation operates a solid waste landfill in eastern OkIahoma. The Nation accounts for this landfill 
operation in accordance with the provisions of GASB Statement No. 18, "Accounting for Municipal Solid 
Waste Landfill Closure and Postclosure Care Costs" ("Statement No. IS''), in the Landfill Operations kf 
Enterprise Fund. 

Federal regulations will require the Nation to place a fmal cover on its landfill site when it stops accepting 
waste and to perfom certain maintenance and monitoring functions at the site for t h o  years after closure. 
Although closure and postclosure care costs will only be paid near or after the date the landfill stops accepting 
waste, Statement No. 18 requires proprietary funds, such as Landfill Operations, to report a portion of these 
costs as an operating expense in each period based on landfill capacity and utilization. The $1,422,000 
reported as Landfill Closure and Postclosure Care Liability at September 30, 2004 (included in "Other 
Noncurrent Liabilities"), represents the cumulative costs recognized to date based on the existing use of 71% 
of the estimated capacity of the landfill. Landfill Operations will recognize the remaining estimated cost of 

lii /: .! 
lii 

closure and postclosure care of approximately $218,000 as the remaining estimated capacity is tilled. These 
estimated closure amounts are based on what it would cost to perfom all closure and postclosure care in 
2004. The Nation expects to close the landfill in the year 2012. Actual costs may be higher due to inflation, f j  
changes in technology, or changes in regulations. k.., 

The Nation makes annual contributions to a restricted bank account to finance closure and postclosure care. 
At September 30, 2004, restricted cash and cash equivalents of approximately $1,335,000 were held for these 
purposes. The Nation expects that future inflation costs will be paid from interest eamings on these amual 
contributions. However, if interest eamings are inadequate or additional postclosure care requirements are 
necessary (due to changes in technology or applicable laws or regulations, for example), such costs may need 
to be funded by charges to future landfill users or other revenue sources. 



13. RISK MANAGEMEAT AND SELF-INSURED HEALTH PLANS 

The Nation manages its risk exposures through risk retention and the purchase of insurance. In the area of 
health benefits, the Nation utilizes a modified self-insured program with a third party administrator. Claims 
for benefits are paid by the Nation to a level of $150,000 per year per employee. Amounts over $150,000 are 
subject to reimbursement by the insurance company. 

The Nation is self-insured against employee health and short-term disability claims incurred under its 
employee group health disability plan. The maximum liability risk to the Nation is $150,000 per employee 
per year. Any claims in excess of this limit are covered by insurance. Significant insurable exposures other 
than health claims are covered by commercial insurance. For insured exposures, there were no significant 
reductions in insurance coverage during the year ended September 30, 2004. Additionally, settlement 
amounts have not been in excess of insurance coverage in each of the past three years. 

Workers' Compensation benefits are now provided within the All Lines Aggregate program described below. 
There is a $100,000 retention with a maximum benefit of $1,000,000 each accident or diseaseleach employee 
applies. 

In most other areas, the fust $100,000 of risk is retained with the All Lines Aggregate program responding to 
losses occumng between $100,000 - $1,000,000. A stop loss equivalent to 1.8% of payroll is in p!ace to limit 
the Nation's exposure. Coverage provided by the All Lines Aggregate program include the following 
exposures: Commercial Auto, General Liability, Crime, Employee Dishonesty, Commercial Propert)., 
Builders' Risk, Equipment, Directors' & Officers' Liability, Errors and Omissions Liability, Law 
Enforcement Officials Liability, Employee Benefit Liability, Employment Related Plactices Liability, 
Medical Malpractice and Workers' Compensation. A $10,000,000 umbrella goes over most underlying 
liability coverage(s) with the exception of Medical Malpractice. 

The Nation's reported employee health claims liability of $2,202,000 at September30, 2004, has been 
recorded in accordance with GASB Statement No. 10, which requires that a liability for claims be reported if 
information prior to the issuance of the financial statements indicates that it is probable that a liability has 
been incurred at the date of the financial statements and the amount of the loss can be reasonably estimated. 

The claims liability has been estimated based upon historical claims experience. The Nation believes that this 
method of estimating the liability is sufficient to determine the amount of open claims and to provide for 
claims that have been incurred but not reported ("IBNR"). Changes in the reported liability have been as 
follows (in thousands): 

Claims 
Balance at  and Balance at  
Beginning Changes in Claim End of 

Fiscal Year of Year Estimates Pavments -- - Year 
2002 $ 1,002 $ 6,363 $ (6,325) $ 1,040 
2003 $ 1,040 $ 9,012 $ (8,648) $ 1,404 
2004 $ 1,404 $ 12,742 $ (1 1,944) $ 2,202 

The claims above are expected to be paid from currently available financial resources and are included in 
accounts payable and accrued liabilities in the accompanying Proprietary Funds statement of net assets. 



14. EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT PLAN 

The following brief descriptions of the Nation's retirement plans are provided for general information 
purposes only. Participants should refer to the applicable plan documents for more complete information. 
The Nation sponsors a defined contribution 401(k) plan, which utilizes Reliance Trust Company, as trustee. 
A defined contribution plan provides retirement benefits in return for services rendered, provides an 
individual account for each participant, and specifies how contributions to the individual's account are to be 
determined. Under a defined contribution plan, the benefits a participant will receive depend solely on the 
amount contributed to the participant's account, the returns earned on investments of those contributions, and 
forfeitures of other participants' benefits that may be allocated to such participant's account. All regular full- 
time and regular part-time employees who have attained at least 18 years of age are eligible to participate in 
the plan upon employment. The plan year is January 1 through December 31. Participants become fully 
vested after four years of participation in the plan. Employees may contribute from 1% to 25% of their gross 
salary, and after 6 months of senice the Nation will match 100% for the first 5% and 50% of the next 4%. .. , 
The plan is administered by the Group Leader of Human Resources, with input from the Nation's Pension 
Committee. The Pension Committee consists of the plan administrator and employees of the Nation. The 
plan administrator is responsible for amending the plans' provisions, including contribution requirements. p! 

L.1 

The Nation's total gross payroll for fiscal 2004 was approximately $65 million, which included 
approximately $64 million for employees covered by the plans. y 

Contributions to the 401(k) plan for 2004 were $5,441,000. Contributions expressed in dollars and percent of 
covered payroll were: Nation $2,073,000, 3.2%, and participants $3,368,000, 5.3%. @ , 

Trend Information 
(in thousands) 

Required Percentage 
Fiscal Year Contribution Contribution 

2002 $ 1.557 100% 
2003 $ 1.781 100% 
2004 $ 2,073 100% 

In 2004 the Nation sponsored a deferred compensation 457(B) plan, which utilizes Nationwide Trust fj;i 

Company, FSB as trustee. A deferred compensation plan provides retirement benefits and provides an 1 1  
individual account for each participant, and specifies how contributions to the individual's account are to be 
determined. Under a deferred compensation plan, the benefits a participant will receive depend solely on the p 
amount contributed to the participant's account and the returns eamed on investments of those contributions. I: I 

The 457(b) plan mirrors the 401(k) eligibility requirements and also allows participation of elected officials. 
The plan year is January 1 through December 31. Participants become fully vested after four years of 
participation in the plan. Employees may contribute up to 100% of their gross salary, and after 6 months of 
service the Nation will match 100% for the first 5% and 50% of the next 4%, not to exceed a total combined 
match of 7% in all retirement plans. The plan is administered by the Group Leader of Human Resources, with 
input from the Nation's Pension Committee. The Pension Committee consists of the plan administrator and 
employees of the Nation. The plan administrator is responsible for amending the plans' provisions, including 
contribution requirements. 

Contributions to the 457(b) plan for 2004 were $263,000 of which $74,000 was required and made by the 
Nation and $1 89,000 was made by participants. 

The discretely presented component units maintain their o w  individual employee retirement plans. Details 
of these plans are available in the reports of the respective component units. 



15. COMRIITRTENTS AND CONTINGENCIES 

Arkansas Riverbed-In 1970, in a lawsuit initiated by the Cherokee, Choctaw, and Chickasaw Nations 
against the State of Oklahoma, a judgment was awarded by the United States Supreme Court confirming that 
these Nations hold title to a portion of the Arkansas Riverbed and were entitled to receive certain revenues 
from riverbed property. 

In connection with the lawsuit by the three tribes against the State of Oklahoma to confirm title to the 
Arkansas Riverbed, the Nation has agreed to pay legal fees equal to one-half of the future revenues to be 
derived from such assets until the total amount of $3,500,000 has been paid for the legal services. If the full 
amount has not been paid by June 30, 2005, the balance will be canceled. Through September 30, 2004, 
approximately $2,006,657 of such amount has been paid. 

Federal Grants - In the normal course of operations, the Nation and its component units receive grant funds 
from various federal agencies. The grant programs are subject to audit by agents of the granting authority, the 
purpose of which is to insure compliance with conditions precedent with the granting of finds. Management 
does not believe any liability for reimbursement which may arise as the result of these audits will be material. 

Other Legal Contingencies-The Nation and its component units are party to various legal proceedings, 
which normally occur, in governmental operations. The legal proceedings, in the opinion of management, 
based on available information, are not likely to have a material adverse impact on the affected funds of the 
Nation. 

Historical Society Subsidy and Matchine Grant Act-By legislative act, the Nation has agreed to provide 
$400,000 to the Cherokee Nation Historical Society beginning in FY 2005 and each year thereafter so long as  
funds are available. During the fiscal year 2004, $600,000 was provided to the Cherokee Nation Historical 
Society. 

The Historical Society received a $200,000 loan through EDTA's Intermediary Relending Program on June 
17, 2003. This loan was made to refinance a termed note and improve cash flow for the pottery operations. 
At the end of FY 2004, the outstanding balance of this loan was $180,000. 

HACN Matters-The HACN has provided a "Tax Credit Recapture Guarantee" to the Limited Partners of 
Jay Senior Housing, Stilwell Senior Housing, and the Wisdom Keepers Limited Partnerships (third party 
syndicators of the tax credits) should the Internal Revenue Service disallow the use of any of the tax credits 
being marketed to third party investors by the Limited Partners. The HACN has also provided "Operating 
Deficit Guarantees" to the Limited Partners of Jay and Stilwell Senior Housing Limited Partnerships and 
Wisdom Keepers Limited Partnerships which would require the Housing Authority to provide capital for 
operations should the need arise. The HACN has provided a "Completion Guarantee" to the Stilwell Senior 
Housing and Wisdom Keepers Limited Partnerships in order to cover any excess construction costs. 

On December 5, 2002, the HACN entered into commitments to provide thirty-one year, zero percent interest 
long-term loans to the Clearwater Estates Limited Partnership and Cherokee West Limited Partnership for 
$640,000 and $840,000 respectively. The loans are contingent upon the award of Lon, Income Housing Tax 
Credits to the partnerships. During fiscal year 2003, the I-lousing Authority voted to withdraw its 
participation in both of these projects. 

C h T  Matters-New games continue to be introduced at the gaming sites which management of CNE 
believes are permitted under "Class 11" gaming restrictions, however, the permissibility of these games can 
and may be, and historically successfully have been, challenged by licensing and governing authorities who 
exercise jurisdiction over these activities. 



CNE has entered into a guarantee agreement with the Nation related to the Nation's 1996 note agreement 
committing future operating transfer amounts up to $21 6,000 annually through 2006. 

CNI Matters-In April 2002, CNI and a creditor restructured an existing trade payable for inventory 
purchases for $7,957,000 to a long-term promissory note. Under the terms of the restructuring, CNl's 
ultimate liability under the promissory note will be dependent upon sales of certain CNI products through 
March 15, 2005 and other factors. CNI has followed Statement of Financial Accounting Standards Number 
15, Accounting by Debtors and Creditors for Troubled Deb! Resfrcfurings, whereby future cash flours are 
compared to the carrying value of the debt. The cash flows are contingent based on future sales. As a result, 
no gain has been recognized for the year ending June 30, 2004. Any potential gain that may occur under the 
restructured note agreement would be recognized when future cash flows are known with certainty. 

16. SUBSEOUENT EVENTS 

Line of Credit Aereement - In February 2005, a line of credit agreement in the amount of $5,000,000 was 
signed with Bank of America. Legislative Act 28-04, July 2004, amended Legislative Act 05-02, and p 
authorized the Principal Chief or hisher designee to negotiate and execute a line of credit to provide cash k.1 

requirements for the Cash Reserve andor cash flow for operations not to exceed $5,000,000 at any given 
time. ? , , 

State-Tribal Gamine Act - In November of 2004, the voters of the State of Oklahoma passed the State- 
Tribal Gaming Act which authorized Indian Tribes to offer Class 111 gaming such as new types of gaming 
machines, some card games, and electronic gaming machines at racetracks. The Nation, under this new 
compact, would make payments to the state from the Class III operations which would be used for State 
educational purposes and rehabilitation of compulsive gamblers. The compact also allows the State a limited 
role of monitoring the Class IU gaming activities. CNE has entered into a Class III gaming compact with the I 

State under this recent law. It is anticipated that gaming revenues will increase and be protected from 
uncertainty in regards to the regulations for Class II gaming. 

Tobacco Taxes - The Cherokee Nation has historically had an arrangement with the State of Oklahoma 
whereby the Nation or its retail tobacco licensees agreed to pay to the state a payment in lieu of state tobacco 
excise and sales tax in the amount of 25% of all applicable excise taxes. In addition, the Nation assesses a tax 
on its retail tobacco licensee's equal to fifly cents (SO) per carton of cigarettes and 5% on scrap tobacco. In 
2004, the Nation entered into a new Tobacco Tax Compact with the state, whereby, they agreed that the 
Nation or its retail tobacco licensees would pay 25% of all applicable excise taxes existing as of January 1, 
2003, plus 100% of all applicable taxes enacted by the state after January 1, 2004. The state agreed in turn 
that 50% of the payments received by the state relating to tax increases after January 1, 2004 would be 
remitted back to the Nation on a quarterly basis. In November 2004, the voters of the State Of Oklahoma 
passed an act significantly increasing the state tax on tobacco sales. The Nation and the state are in continuing 
discussion regarding this matter and the ultimate impact of the new Tobacco Tax Compact, and the recently 
enacted tax changes by the state on the Nation's tobacco tax revenues is not presently known. 

CNB Grant Aereernents -In January 2005, CNB was notified that it had been selected to receive five grants 
for which it had applied, under the Community-Oriented Connectivity Broadband Grant Program 
administered by the U.S. Department of Agiculture Rural Utilities Senrice aggregating $3,444,370. The 
grant funds require a 15% match, aggregating $607,830 to be provided by CNB. If the grants are received it 
is likely that CNB will utilize its 51% owned investee, Cherokee Connex, to assist in providing the senices 
required by the grants. Cherokee Connex has an agreement with a service provider, who assisted in locating 
and applying for the grant funds to pay them fees of $103,33 1 for such services. CNB does not currently have 



sufficient liquid assets to fund the match requirement and is evaluating alternatives in this regard prior to its 
decision to accept the grants. 

CNHHS Matters-Effective November 2004, CNHHS became insured for workers' compensation coverage 
through the Nation's self-insurance plan. 
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Governmental Fund Types - Governmental funds are those through which most governmental functions of the 
Nation are financed. Tile acquisition: use and balances of the Nation's expendable financial resources and the 
related liabilities (except those accounted for in proprietaty funds) are accounted for through govemtnental funds. 
Governmental fund types use the current financial resources measuretnent focus. This measurement focus is upon 
the receipt and disbursetr~ent of cunent available tinancial resources rather than upon net income. 
Special Revenue Funds - Special revenue funds are used to account for the proceeds of governlnent grants or other 
specific revenue sources that are restricted by lau' or administrative action to finance particular functions or 
activities of the Nation. These funds include: 

Self Governance DO1 - Other - Established to account for funds received under the Nation's self 
goveniance cotnpact with the United States government. These funds are used to administer a tiumber of 
progratns under the Department of lnterior relating to education, health and welfare, and tribal go!rernment 
within the Nation's geographic boundaries. 
Sequoyah Education - Established to account for grant funds received from the Department ofthe lnterior 
to help fund the education programs of Sequoyah High School. 

Talking Leaves Job Corps - Established to account for funds received from the Department of Labor for 
counseling, training and job placement of disadvantaged youth. 
Food Distribution - Established to account for Department of Agriculture food products provided to the 
Nation and grant funds used to pay administrative and program costs of a program which provides food to 
eligible lndian families. 
Women, Infants and Children - Established to account for grant funds received from the Department of 
Agriculture to supply supplemental food and nutrition education to women and children at nutritional risk. 
Head Star t  - Established to account for grant funds from the Department of Health and Human Services to 
provide comprehensive health, educational, nutritional, social, and other services primarily to economically 
disadvantaged preschool lndian children. 
PL102-477 - Established to account for funds received through the Department of the lnterior from the 
Department of Labor for counseling, training and job placement of disadvantaged youth, as well as from 
the Department of Health and Human Services to provide child care services for low-income families with 
a parent that is working or attending a training or educational program. 
Title VI - Established to account for borrowing and lending activities related to the United States 
Departtnent of Housing and Urban Developtnent Title VI loan agreement, the proceeds of which are 
obtained from federal government guaranteed bank financing and subsequently loaned to the Cherokee 
Nation Housing Authority, a component unit of the Nation. 

EDTA - Established by Tribal Council Legislative Act 36-89 as a mechanism to promote economic 
development. Its mission is to provide opportunities for income generation through econotnic 
development, to provide loans for business creationlexpansion, and to provide loans to qualified individuals 
whom have traditionally been denied through conventional lending sources. 

Other Grants - Established to account for various sources of grant funds used to fund specific program 
activities. 

Tribal Judgment Funds - Established to account for monies received by the Nation from the settlement of 
disputes with the United States government. The judgment monies are expended in accordance with plans 
for use and distribution adopted by the Nation and approved as applicable. by the Secretaty of the lnterior. 
The judgtiient fund is controlled and administered by the Bureau of lndian Affairs. 
Tribal Trusts - Established to account for income received from external users of tribal lands, such as oil 
and gas royalties. The Bureau of lndian Affairs administers these funds which may be expended upon 
request and approval by the Secretary. 

Permanent Funds - Permanent funds are used to report resources that are legally restricted to the extent that only 
earnings, and not principal. may be used for purposes supporting the Nation's programs. 

Scquoyah Endonment - Established to account for funds endowed from the Louise K. Green-ManRe\vs 
Grant in Environmental Science. The income fro111 the grant is to be used to encourage Cherokee students 
of at least one-quatter blood quantum to engage in furthering their education in the Environtnental Science 
field. 

Gammon Educational Trust  - Establisl~ed to account for funds endowed by Glenn L. and Faye V. 
Gammon Trust. The income frotn this educational trust may be used to provide tuition and related 
educational assistance \vliile they auend any accredited college or university located in the contittental 
United States. The Clicrokec students must be at least one-quilrter blood quantum. 
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Enterprise Funds - Enterprise funds are used to accoulit for the Nation's ongoi~ig organizations and 
activities which are similar to those often found in tlie private sector where the intent is that costs of 
providing goods and sel-\:ices be recovered tlirougli user charges. The measurement focus of the 
Enterprise Funds. tlie flo\v of economic resources. is upon detertiiination of net income. tinancial position 
and capital ~naintenance. The enterprise funds of the Nation. all of which are non~najor. include: 

Tsa-La-Gi Apartments - Utilized to account for the operations of tlie Nation's federally 
subsidized low-income liousing apartment complex. whose operating focus is to provide housing 
for qualified tribal members and to recover costs of operations. 

Cherokee Trails Golf Club - Utilized to account for the Nation's operation of a golf course 
located adjacent to Sequoyah Higli School. This enterprise was transferred to Cherokee Nation 
Enterprises, Inc.: a component unit of the Nation, in 2004. 

Landfill Operations - Utilized to account for the solid waste landfill operations of the Nation 
located in Stilwell, Oklahoma. 

b , ~  I 
Ranch Operations - Utilized to account for the activities of the Nation's contract poultry 
operation. This operation was curtailed in 2003 and the fund was closed in 2004. pl 

Childhood Development Center - Utilized to account for tlie activities of the Cherokee Nation 
Childhood Development Centers that provide cliildcare to low income families at a reduced or  
subsidized rate. The Nation intends to recover the majority of future costs of operating the 

y 
Childhood Development Centers primarily through user charges. 

Other Enterprises - Utilized to accou~it for various other small proprietary programs operated 
by the Nation such as Enterprise Management, 202 HUD Housing Management, Indian Health 
Services Personnel Sewice Agreement, Home Maintenance and Cherokee Navigation. 
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COMBMMG STATEMENT OF NET ASSETS - NONMAJOR ENTERPRlSE FWDS 
SEFI'EMBER 30,2004 
(Dollan In Thouraods) 

ASSETS 

cumor as*: 
Cash md caB cquivahntr 
1nuerrmma 
Aecountr rseivabk, ncl 
Duc fmm &n h d s  
0th" m n t  -Is 

Tom1 s-t lueu 

R d c t o d  cash md a s h  quivrlens 
W i m l  -Is. ncl 

! LlABILlTIES 

I C m t  liabilities: 
Accaunts paysble and a w e d  liabilities 
Cwxnt pordon of long-I- dsbt 
Due to otha h& 
Othncumnt liabilities 

Toul c u m n l  lisbilifies 

b o g  tm debt 
Olha liabilidcs 

Total liabilifies 

NET ASSETS 
hvesled in upiul  us4 on of rshud debt 
U m e i c ~  

C b l l d b d  
Developmot Otbcr 

Ccolcn Enterprise T01.l 



CHEROKEE NATION 
COMBINING STATEMENT OF REVENUES. EXPENSES AND CHANGES IN FUND NETASSETS- 
YO\WAJOR E3TERPRISE FL'XDS 
FOR THE YEAR E\DED SEPTEWBER M. 2004 

open* revmurr: 
Pmprty mtalr 
Charger for smdm ad gwdr 
OUxr 

Toul -ling rrwnvr 

O p n k n g e n c e ~ :  
Cost of $ales 
Salaries a d  wager 
O l k  services a d  charger 
Materials aod svppfics 
Depmiatioo a d  smrr int im 

Total -dog -r 

Net nompnting rrvmuss (srpsnsss) 

Income (loss) before mnrfen 

Change in nct assee 

rota1 051 PI& - kgiROing 

Total net assets - d i n g  

B m l m s - r n  AeUvllln- 
Ennrpdre F u d r  

C k m k  Cblldhmd 
TI.-LffiI Trails LadNI  Ranch Ikvrlopmcal Olkr  

A p a m o b  Golf Club Opratiotls Opr.Uons Cmtm Eolerprbn TOW 



CHEROKEE NATION 

COMBINWG STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS - NONMAJOR ENTERPRISE FUNDS 
FOR TAE YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30,2004 

Cash flows fmm operating activities: 
Receiprr hom c u s t o m  
P s m s  to r m l i m  . . 
p a m u  to nnpl0ycp 
lnlmsl activityncl -paymmts ( t o ) l h  othn funds 
ohm meipu 
Other p a y s  

Nel cash pmvidsdl(uwd) by opersting activities 
I 

Cash flows h m  aoncapital financing activities 
Operating rubsidicr and onnsfm (0)lhom 0th- h d s  

I! Cash flows h c a p i r a l  and relaud financing activities 
Plush- of capital asms 

61 
Rincipal paid on capital debt 
Int-t p i d  on capital debt 

1 Net cash (used) by capital and nlaled 
financing activities 

e Cash flow hom investing activities 
In*mt aod dividsnds received 
Dispa~ition ofcapital asses 

Nn cash pmvidcd by investing activities 

Nn in- ( d m )  in cash and sash equivalrnu 

Carh and a s h  equivalrna O s t k  I ,  2003 

Cash and f a ~ h  equivalents Ssptrmbcr 3 0 . 2 0 4  

R-ciliation ofqKnting in- Om) to net cash provided 
(used) by -ling activities: 

Adjusmmls to w n c i l c  operating inwme 0 mt cash 

I pmvidcd (4) by -ling activities: 
Dcprcciation erqxnw 1 Chang. in asstsand lisbilitia: 
Receivables and due han (to) other b d s  
lnvmtories 
Othn cumnt  asses 
Liabilities and otha payablcs 

Net cash pmvidcd by openting activities 

Burlnns-type Actlvltles. 
Eolrrprlsr Fuodr 

Cherokee Childhood 
TI=-Ls.GI Tr~l l s  Landfill Ranch Ikvrlopmnt Other 

Aparmwnts GalfCluh OpraHonr Opnl loar  Centerr Enterprises Tola1 
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Internal Sen4cc funds are used to account for tlie tinancinf of goods and ser\.ices pro\.ided by one fund 
to other funds within the Nation on a cost rei~nbursenient basis. 

Internal Leases is used to account for the cost to lnaintain certain buildings for use by other 
funds of the Nation. 

Force Accounts is used to acquire and maintain equipment and supplies used by other funds of 
the Nation. 

Fringe Pool is used to account for the cost of fringe benefits, including the Nation's self-insured 
health care benefits and workers' compensation benetits. used by other funds of the Nation. 

Indirect Cost Pool is used to account for the cost of providing certain services, such as 
accounting, human resources and acquisition management, to other funds of the Nation. I 

Construction is used to account for the cost to manage construction of buildings for use by other fl 
funds of the Nation. t: ; 



CHEROKEE NATION 

COMBINING STATEMEKT OF NET ASSETS -INTERNAL SERVICE FL'NDS 
SEPTEMBER 30,2004 
(Dollmn i. Tboasamdr) 

ASSETS 

c-1 assets: 
b h  and m h  squiwlrnts 
Accounls receivable, net 
Due fmm oIha funds 
lnvrntoria 
Other E-1 aswtr 

Tan] m t  ass- 

FLstrimd m h  & cash equivalenls 
Capital sssets, net 

Total assets 

L I A B I L r n  

Aeeounts payable and w e d  liabilities 
C-1 ponion of long-1- deb 
C-1 portion ofcapital I- 
Due to o h m  funds 
Cannpmrand absmar 
Other c m t  liabilities 

Torrl cumnt liabilities 

D e f d  revenue 
Longarm debt 
Capital I- payable 

Total liabilities 

latrmnl Farce Frillre 
Leu" Accouah Pml 

111dlrcrt 
Cost Pool 

NET ASSETS 

lnvmted in capital wets, net of related debt 6,168 480 2.214 8,862 
Rmbichd 2.112 25 2,137 
Unrrmincd (1.260) (387) (3,951) (348) (551) (6,497) 

Toul n* .ssefs S 7,020 S 118 S (3.951) S 1,866 S (551) 1 4.502 - 



CHEROKEE NATION 

COMBINING STATEMENT OF REVENLmS, EXPENSES A W  CHAWGES IN FLWD NET ASSETS - INTERNAL SERVlCE FUMM 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30,2004 
llhllmn In Tboussmds) 

Oprating revenues: 
Propmy rentals 
Charges for serviccr snd g m b  
Otha 

Toml o p t i n g  revenues 

Oprating expenses: 
Cost ofsales 
Salnries and wages 
Ocha rmim and charges 
Materials md supplies 
D e p i a t i o n  and amorlizsim 

Nmopating revenuer (expense): 
h t m n  inc- 
lntmn expense 
Gain/Ooss) m sale of  fired weu 

Net nmopnting revenues (expnses) 

Changc in net mscu 

Toml net isxu - beginning 

T m l  net assets -ending 

Internal Force Fringe Imdlrrcf 
Lmse Acrouma Pool Cmt Pool Consfrrrtlom Total 



CHEROKEE NATION 
COMBIWSC STATEMF.W OFCASR FLOWS- L3TFR.CM SERWCE R1VS 
FOR l H E  YEAR EWFDSEPTEMBER 30.2004 

Casb Boars born opntiag acdvitin: 
Rocsips fmm cvstaers 
R y m m  to q l i m  
R p m u  to nnplayces 
lnllrnal u t i v i t y ~ t  - papmu ( l o y h  ahr hmdr 
OUnrsripn 
OthnpaymmD 
Nu cash p o v i d c d / ( d )  by -ring xtivitia 

Cash d u r h  equimlmo. Octo(n I .  2W3 

Cash d arh apuivrlmla, Ssptcmk 30,2004 

Rmonn'lidon of opnting imomeflou) lo ml u r h  p v i &  
( d )  by opadng activities: 

AcmLmIs d oUmpylb1a 
Nct w h  p v i &  by -tin8 d v i t i a  
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CHEROKEE NATION 

SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENSES AYD CHANGES IN FUND NET ASSETS - 
BUDGET AND ACTUAL (GAAP BASIS) - ENTERPRISE FUNDS 
FOR THE YEAJ7 ENDED SEPTEMBER 30,2004 
(DoUan In Tbouunds) 

Operating revenues: 
Property rentals 
Charges for services and pods  
Othn 

Total operating revenues 

Opwting npeaJes: 
Cost of sales 
Salarica and wages 
Other services and charm 
Materials and supplies 
Depreciation and amatizatia 

Told operating npenses 

Operating income (loss) 

Nonopcratingrcvmues(expmses): 
Interest income 
Lnterest expense 
Gainl(loss) on sale of fixed .sJN 

Nd nonopaatin8 m u c  (expenses) 

Transfm in 
Tnnsfar out 

Changes in n d  as& 

Total n n  assets - beginning 

Total net assets - ending 

Budgeted Amounb 

Original Final 

A d j u s m t  lo reflst the consolidation of lntemal Smice Funds activities rclatcd to Enterprise Funds (3) 
Net a sxu  of Enterprise Funds S 3,703 - 



STATISTICAL 
SECTION 

CHEROKEE NATION 
COMPREflEhTSI\~E ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT 



CHEROKEE NATION 

GENERAL GOVERNMENTAL REVENUES BY SOURCE ( G W  BASIS 
LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS (pollan In Thouunda) 

O p n u n g  Unrwtrlcicd Mvldends Indlrrct 
F l s u l  Chargca for G n n b &  Motor M a o r  Ocher Tax G n n a  & from Cost Galnl(lon) on 
Year Serrlm Conmbutlom Pueh Tax Vehlde Tax Rwenua  contribution^ Interest Cmponrat l  Settlement Mlscellaneour dllpouls Totnl 

The Nation doer not u s a s  pmpr?r tua or meive pmpnty tua ronessed on its behlfby nny otha govamnnml 
wt Consequently, many or the statistiul rhedu la  uslvny f d  in a comprcbcaaive mnd b n c i a l  report ue not 
applicable to !he Nation. 

2002 through 2004 mmus am not eongamble to 2001 and prior p n  due m the adoption of GASB 34. 



CAEROKEE NATION 

0th- Intermi C h e r o k  Chlldhmd 
Trlhal Hullh Edm&n Humn C o m n n y l  T W  onLong Tm-h-Gl Tnllm hndflll Ranch Dcvelopmmt 0th- 

Y u n  Cavernmmt S m i c n  SIrvim %dm Smlm Smica T m  lkbt Apltnentx GolfClub Opmtlans Opntlons Crntrr Entrrprla Totnl 

2002 h m g h  2004 apaua are not campnble to 2001 d prior - doe a the doph'on of GASB 34. 



CFIEROKEE NATION 

POPULATION BY COC?WY 

Indian Total Pcmmt 
Population Population of Total 

Counties in Cherokee Nation: 
Adair 
Chnokee 
Craig 
Delaware 
Mayes 
Nowata 
Rogm 

Saluoyah 
Washington 

Counties Partially in Chnokee Nation: 
McIntosh 
Muskogee 
Ottawa 
Tulsa 
Wagoner 

Totals 

Source: U.S. Census Bureau: ZOO0 



CHEROKEE NATION 

TRIBAL LAND BASE (ACRES) BY COUNTY 
AS OF SEPTEMBER 30,2004 

Trlbnl Coverurnmi Rwtrlcted 
County Land Lnnd Individunl 

~ u u k e e  Nation: 
Oklahoma: 

Adair 12.940 19 10,566 
Chuuka 908 324 9,614 
Craig 90 1,843 
Delawarc 24,784 10 6,556 
Mclntosh 596 
Maycs 356 10 5.368 
Muskoga 75 2,342 
Nowata 30 610 
Ottawa 79 
Rogm 518 801 
S W U O Y ~ ~  1,641 44 5,850 
Tulsa 204 
Wagone 225 
Washington 1,784 
Arkansas Riverbed 14.715 

Counties Oumide Territorial BoundPn'es: 
oklahom: 

Kay 4.230 
Aloka 10 
Chataw 40 
Pinsbvrg 10 
Stepbms 80 

TCXLP: 
Red River 629 
Dallas 5 

TOM 6l.06l 407 46,438 - -- - 
Source: Chuuka Nation Land Depamnent 



CHEROKEE NATION 
Tribal Membership Growth 

$995 1996 1997 1998 1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 

Source: Tribal Registration Department 
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